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#  the naV is calculated on the basis of the Group’s book 
naV of HK$6,240.6 million after adjusting hotel property 
(which is on cost basis in the book) to fair market value 
determined by an independent property valuer.

Revenue

HK$602.9 million
(2019: HK$816.4 million)

Profit attributable to
the Shareholders

HK$151.0 million
(2019: HK$173.1 million)

net asset value (“nAV”)
and nAV per share of
the group attributable

to the Shareholders  
as at 31 december 2020

HK$11,274.4 million and
HK$17.6 respectively#

13%
decrease

26%
decrease

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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 Hong Kong

Queensland

CHinA

AUStRAliA

UnitEd Kingdom

london

CHinA
Hong Kong

•	 1 shouson Hill road east

•	 Crowne plaza Hong Kong 
Causeway Bay

•	 Grand Victoria

•	 Winway Building

UnitEd Kingdom
london

• 20 Moorgate

• 33 old Broad street

AUStRAliA
Queensland

• lizard Island resort
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Particulars of development Properties / Properties under development

name of Project location 
Expected 
Completion Usage 

Approximate gross Floor 
Area (sq. ft.) group’s interest (%)

HonG KonG, CHIna

Grand Victoria 6 lai Ying street and 8 
lai Ying street, south 
West Kowloon, Hong 
Kong

March 2023 residential 987,812 10

Particulars of investment Properties 

name of Project location lease Expiry Usage 

Approximate gross Floor  
Area (“gFA”) / Saleable  
Floor Area (“SFA”) (sq. ft.) group’s interest (%)

HonG KonG, CHIna

1 shouson Hill road 
east

1 shouson Hill road 
east, Deep Water Bay, 
Hong Kong

30 June 2047 residential sFa: 30,000 100 
(10 houses, each with 
2 car parking spaces)

Winway Building 50 Wellington street, 
Central, Hong Kong

999 years commencing 
from 26 June 1843

Commercial GFa: 58,207 58.83

lonDon, tHe unIteD KInGDoM

33 old Broad street 33-41 old Broad street 
and 1-6 union Court, 
london eC2

Freehold office GFa: 191,165 100

20 Moorgate 20 Moorgate, london 
eC2r 6Da

long lease office GFa: 155,000 100

QueenslanD, australIa

lizard Island resort lizard Island, tropical 
north, Queensland

30 september 2050 resort Hotel GFa: 113,000 100

Particulars of Hotel Building 

name of Project location lease Expiry Usage 
Approximate gross Floor 
Area (sq.ft.) group’s interest (%)

HonG KonG, CHIna

Crowne plaza Hong 
Kong Causeway Bay 

8 leighton road, 
Causeway Bay,  
Hong Kong

6 november 2049 Hotel 200,000 100
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Hong Kong, China

geographical Environment:

located at the south West Kowloon waterfront. the location enjoying 

panoramic harbour views while having the West Kowloon Cultural 

District and Guangzhou – shenzhen – Hong Kong express rail link 

terminus in the vicinity. It enjoys excellent connectivity with Mtr 

stations and lines linking Central, airport, the express rail link 

terminus and all the commercial hubs in the city.

Planning and design:

Crafted by world-renowned, award-winning visionaries- architect and

designer:

•  arquitectonica

•  rottet studio

•  Champalimaud Design

•  Hirsch Bedner associates (HBa)

Project Highlight:

•  the project consists of 3 phases, phase I provides 524 units; phase 

II provides 525 units and phase III provides 388 units.

• amenities worthy of a luxury resort will include, but not limited to:

  –  swimming pools, steam room and sauna

  –  Fitness studio

  –  Yoga retreat

  –  sports Court

 –  Kids’ Voyage, Kids’ land

 –  Director’s Villa, Voyage room

 –  the lounge

•  tailor-made property management with distinguished service.

•  smart living delivered with innovation.

Project name: grand Victoria

development Address:

6 lai Ying street and 8 lai Ying street, south West Kowloon, Hong Kong

district: south West Kowloon

Property Website: www.grandvictoria.hk

Usage: residential

Approximate Site Area: 208,262 sq.ft.

Approximate gross Floor Area: 987,812 sq. ft.

number of Residential Units: approximate 1,437

Expected Completion: March 2023

mode of development: Joint Venture (the Group holds 10% interest)

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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Hong Kong, China

geographical Environment:

prestigiously situated in the luxurious residential area in the Deep Water 

Bay area of Island south, the project possesses the lush panoramic 

views of Mount nicholson and residents could enjoy the convenience of 

commuting to Central and Causeway Bay by just a few minutes of driving.

Planning and design:

Crafted by internationally renowned, award-winning designer, steve leung.

Project Highlight:

•  Features 20 blocks of 3-storey detached houses, each with a 

sizable private garden, roof top and covered car parking spaces 

accessible directly from the house.

•  residential amenities:

 –  22m heated swimming pool

 –  Gym

 –  Banquet room

 –  outdoor BBQ and children playground

•  Home to numerous reputable International schools.

Project name: 1 Shouson Hill Road East

development Address:

1 shouson Hill road east, Deep Water Bay, Hong Kong

district: Deep Water Bay

Usage: residential

Approximate Site Area: 75,649 sq.ft.

Approximate Saleable Floor Area: 30,000 sq. ft.

number of Residential Units: 20 Houses

ownership Status:

Wholly-owned 10 houses, each with 2 car parking spaces

1 shouson Hill road east, Hong Kong
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london, the United Kingdom

geographical Environment:

33 old Broad street is prominently located at the core of the City of 

london with only 150 metres away from the liverpool street Crossrail 

station. this strategic location appeals to global occupiers from the 

financial, insurance and professional sectors.

Project Highlight:

•  the 9-storey property is located in “the eastern Cluster” identified 

by the City of london Corporation, which is identified as suitable 

for development of high-rise buildings, providing a promising 

redevelopment opportunity as a landmark development.

•  Currently leased to Bank of scotland as their london Headquarter.

Project name: 33 old Broad Street

development Address:

33-41 old Broad street and 1-6 union Court, london eC2

district: Central Business District, london

Usage: office

Approximate gross Floor Area: 191,165 sq. ft.

lease Expiry: Freehold

ownership Status: Wholly-owned

33 old Broad street, london
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london, the United Kingdom

Project Highlight:

20 Moorgate is a 7-storey office building located in the heart of 

london with less than 100 metres of walking distance from the Bank 

of england. the development provides a sizable floor space of Grade a 

office, retail and ancillary accommodation. the commercial part of the 

property is fully let as the Headquarter of united Kingdom prudential 

regulation authority (a regulatory body of the Bank of england). 

Project name: 20 moorgate

development Address:

20 Moorgate, london eC2r 6Da

district: Central Business District, london

Usage: office

Approximate gross Floor Area: 155,000 sq. ft.

lease Expiry: long lease

ownership Status: Wholly-owned

20 Moorgate, london
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the world today is undergoing unprecedented 
changes, and our businesses in Hong Kong 
suffered from the double blow of social unrest 
and the outbreak of CoVID-19 which particularly 
hit our hotel business. Fortunately, the Group 
has diversified its asset class and geographical 
business, which successfully balanced the impact 
of these incidents. I am pleased to announce to 
our shareholders that the Group continued to be 
profitable in FY2020.

our hotel business has suffered from a significant 
decline in both business and leisure travelers 
and the situation remains uncertain. Despite the 
uncertainty on the changes in the global travel 
trends, we see potential demand from short-
haul travel tourists. Hong Kong remains Mainland 
China’s perfect choice. Consumer sentiment for 
outbound tours is building up and this potential 
demand stands to benefit our hotel in Hong 
Kong. Further, I believe that the promulgation 
of national security law in Hong Kong helps 
strengthen the social stability of Hong Kong. 
upon re-open of border after pandemic, we are of 
the view that the Mainland tourists will travel to 
Hong Kong again.

property development and investment remain 
the core businesses of the Group. With the 
Group’s prudent investment strategy, we have 
built up a high quality property development and 
investment portfolio to maintain future growth 
and liquidity. the Group’s Joint Venture project - 

the West Kowloon waterfront residential project “Grand Victoria”, launched pre-sale in March 
2021 and provides visibility to the Group’s future profit. the Group is also well diversified 
geographically and therefore able to take advantage of different territory cycles. We 
continue to focus on reputable tenants under long leases with investment grade covenants 
for contribution of stable rental income to the Group. With the Group’s robust financial 
position, we are ready to take advantage of opportunities as they arise.

Making profits and achieving sustainable development are both important to the Group. to 
maintain success of the Group, we have established an excellent management team and 
good corporate governance practices. In FY2020, the Group won a number of international 
awards and I am very proud of the widespread recognition for our efforts in this regard.

12 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020
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rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong1 shouson Hill road east, Hong Kong

on the esG front, global trends, such as growing customers’ and shareholders’ interest 
in sustainability, are re-shaping the business environment. Investors are emphasizing 
esG factors when evaluating companies. therefore, we are actively establishing a sound 
sustainability governance model and integrating it into our business operations. We believe 
that is what our shareholders expect of us.

the general economy remains challenging with the double-strike of social unrest and 
CoVID-19. We keep cautious about land acquisition and exploration of investment 
opportunities. the healthy gearing level and strong cashflow of the Group provide room 
for the Group to grasp opportunities when available. looking ahead, the economy of the 
world and Hong Kong still face difficulties and challenges. However, China is tackling 
the problems effectively by putting more resources in maintaining employment as well 
as fostering social stability. We expect the global economy will recover gradually and are 
confident that the economic growth of China and Hong Kong will still be stronger than the 
rest of the world.

I am confident that the Group will be able to cope with the current global economic 
headwinds and provide stable dividends to its shareholders. I would also like to take the 
opportunity to thank our shareholders, partners and colleagues for their concerted effort, 
which underpins the steady growth of our business. they are the key elements for the 
Group’s success.

lu Wing Chi, Jesse
Chairman

26 March 2021
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FY2020 HigHligHtS

For the Group, 2020 is a year full of challenge and 
uncertainty. the global economy was impacted 
by outbreak of CoVID-19 and the us-China trade 
tensions. Despite the significant slowdown in the 
global economy, I am pleased to report that the Group 
recorded a profit of HK$151 million this year.

Property development

We continue our effort in the residential development 
project in West Kowloon Waterfront “Grand Victoria”1. 
the project is progressed well with construction 
entering the superstructure work. pre-sale of the 
project has been launched in March 2021 and over 
270 units of the residential project have been sold 
with approximately HK$4 billion of sale proceeds.

Hotel operations and management

•	 COVID-19	hit	our	hotel	operations	significantly	but	
immediate measures were taken to mitigate the 
impact. We streamlined our manpower resources, 
cut costs and rev iewed thoroughly a l l our 
expenses. Moreover, we are introducing marketing 
and sales recovery strategies, rebranding our 
existing restaurant outlets and introducing a new 
Italian restaurant for having an all-new dining 
experience to the guests. all-in-all, whilst it has 
been a difficult period for the hotel industry, we 
have taken actions to deal with this period of 
uncertainty.

Balance Sheet and management

•	 We	fully	repaid	USD200	million	guaranteed	note	which	matured	in	January	2020	by	cash	and	we	
continue to keep a large balance of cash and highly liquid investments.

Furthermore, we have access to approximately HK$9.1 billion of available fund2 to maintain 
maximum financial flexibility.

•	 Cost	control	initiatives	were	implemented	to	navigate	the	unforeseen	challenge	of	COVID-19.

1 the Group is being a part of the consortium comprised of well-known property developers.
2 It includes cash, undrawn facilities and highly liquid marketable securities, net of leverage.
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RESUltS HigHligHtS

In FY2020, the Group recorded revenue of HK$602.9 million (FY2019: HK$816.4 million), a 26.2% 
decrease as compared to FY2019. this decrease in revenue was mainly due to the significant drop in 
hotel operating results due to CoVID-19 outbreak.

net profit attributable to the shareholders for the year amounted to HK$151.0 million (FY2019: 
HK$173.1 million), a 12.8% decrease as compared to last year, mainly due to the sharp decline 
in hotel performance caused by CoVID-19 outbreak, which was offset by surplus in the fair value 
of investment properties and increase in return from financial investment, net of finance cost, in 
FY2020.

the Group remains resilient and continues to generate sustainable value for its shareholders. as a 
result, the Board recommended a final dividend of HK3 cents per share. together with an interim 
dividend of HK2 cents per share, the total dividend for the year will amount to HK5 cents per share. 
the Group is committed to maintaining a stable dividend policy in the long run.

For more details on our financial results, please refer to the section entitled “Management Discussion 
and analysis”.

StREngtHEning oUR BUSinESS RESiliEnCE

the Group adheres to prudent investment strategy. our performance in FY2020 has been slightly 
affected by the outbreak of CoVID-19 and the general uncertainty in the global economy except for 
hotel business. the Group has worked very hard to position itself to weather the global economic 
headwinds and to get itself ready to take advantage of a rebound in business activity during the 
recovery phase. We have taken the following specific measures:

•	 Reducing	 overheads	 in	 the	 hotel	 operations	 through	 trimming	 down	 operating	workforce	 as	
well as cutting fixed costs; and

•	 Streamlining	of	operations	including	reducing	workforce	in	other	operations.

20 Moorgate, london rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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Furthermore, the Group also benefited from government incentives and compensation programs such 
as the employment support scheme under the anti-epidemic Fund in which the HKsar government 
will provide a wage subsidy to eligible employers. With incentives offered, the Group received 
approximately HK$7.7 million, the financial impacts of CoVID-19 in FY2020 had been, to some 
extent, mitigated.

the Group remains much disciplined in reviewing investment opportunities. the current market 
environment is starting to force certain owners of assets or businesses to consider selling or 
introducing a partner. the Group will seek to take advantage of the environment to expand its 
business.

We will also seek partnerships with companies that own land in good locations to jointly develop 
their sites for regeneration or repositioning which provides us with an attractive strategy to property 
development.

We will continue with our prudent approach in allocating capital across the different divisions and 
regions to allow us to generate higher returns on equity as compared with our peer groups in Hong 
Kong. We firmly believe this approach should drive share price outperformance.

CAPitAl StRUCtURE And liQUiditY

adhering to prudent management of our capital, the Group continued to optimize its capital structure 
to ensure sufficient liquidity.

as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash position amounted to HK$3,384.2 million (2019:  
HK$5,526.1 million). together with the Group’s undrawn banking facilities stood at HK$3,332.1 million  
(2019: HK$2,412.4 million), total available fund to the Group amounts to HK$6,716.3 million (2019: 
HK$7,938.5 million).

our net gearing ratio (adjusting for hotel revaluation surplus of HK$5,033.8 million, which is not 
recognized on the balance sheet) stood at 17.6% as at 31 December 2020. although hotel valuations 
were affected by CoVID-19, the Group’s credit standing remains healthy.

For equity, we repurchased approximately 20 million shares during the year for a total consideration 
of approximately HK$194.2 million. We believe this is an effective way to increase earnings per share 
and capital gain to our shareholders along with the declared dividends.
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C o R P o R A t E g o V E R n A n C E A n d C o R P o R A t E S o C i A l 

RESPonSiBilitY

We believe a high standard of corporate governance is an essential element to enhance sustainable 
development and provide a high degree of transparency to our investors. During the year, the Group 
received a number of international awards that recognized our efforts in its corporate governance 
and corporate social responsibility.

examples of awards include:

Hong Kong – s e a Holdings limited
•	 Caring	Company	2020
•	 Happy	Company	2020
•	 Good	Employer	Charter	2020
•	 Good	MPF	Employer	2020:
 “Good MpF employer”
 “MpF support award”

Hong Kong – Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay
•	 Booking.com:	Traveler	Review	Awards	2020
•	 Caring	Company:	10	Year	Plus	Caring	Company	(2010	–	2020	Award)
•	 Hotels.com:	Loved	by	Guests	Award	2020
•	 TripAdvisor:	Travelers’	Choice	2020

australia – lizard Island resort
•	 Travel	+	Leisure	World’s	Best	Awards	2020

the Group is committed to continuing its efforts to strengthen corporate social responsibility in all 
aspects and will continue to provide investors with a high degree of transparency in information 
disclosures.
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oUtlooK

since the recovery of CoVID-19 is still uncertain, it is difficult to 
predict the short-term and long-term effects on the economy. the 
economic outlook has become more challenging. the Group has 
adopted a series of mitigation and control measures to overcome 
this challenging period and will continue to closely monitor the 
economic recovery condition. We are ready to take more measures 
to tackle different situation. If the economy can rebound in 
rapid succession, we can react quickly and actively seek more 
opportunities.

revenue from property investment in the coming years is expected 
to remain good given that we have reputable tenants under 
long leases. the rental income generated from these investment 
properties amounted to HK$212.9 million as at 31 December 
2020. these provide clear visibility of revenue recognition of our 
business in the coming years.

revenue from our hotel operations was impacted by CoVID-19 and 
we do not expect a quick return to normality. under the current 
environment, we will continue to review and control operating 
costs to ensure that the business can endure a long period of 
adverse conditions.

It is our target to improve return on equity by optimizing capital 
structure. the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach 
to manage its balance sheet in order to maintain its good credit 
standing.

In conclusion, our strategic direction remains unchanged. our 
core strategy is to seek sustainable growth through our strong 
financial position, quality corporate governance and adherence to 
its philosophy of “Building with the times”. the Group’s prudent 
financial management policy aims to optimize its capital structure 
through active capital reallocation in order to increase return on 
equity.

I am optimistic about the Group’s future and I very much believe 
that we are well-positioned for the recovery of the global economy. 
We have a number of existing projects on the way that will provide 
very strong cash flows to the Group in the years to come.

lambert lu
Chief Executive

26 March 2021

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong

Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay,  
Hong Kong

33 old Broad street, london
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mR. lU Wing CHi, JESSE
Chairman
Executive Director

Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse, aged 74, joined the Group in 1969 and is currently the Chairman and 
executive Director. He is also the chairman of the nomination Committee and the executive 
Committee and a member of the remuneration Committee.

Mr. lu is a director of various members of the Group and holds directorship in nlI (the controlling 
shareholder of the Company), nYH, port lucky, sea Fortune and ambleside Glory (all of them are 
substantial shareholders of the Company). He has more than 50 years of experience in property 
development and investment in Hong Kong and overseas as well as godown and factory operations.

Mr. lu is the son of Mr. lu Chu Mang (the founder of the Group) and the father of Mr. lambert lu (the 
executive Director and Chief executive) and Mr. lincoln lu (the non-executive Director).

mR. lAmBERt lU
Executive Director
Chief Executive

Mr. lambert lu, aged 44, joined the Group in 1999 and is currently the executive Director and Chief 
executive. He is also a member of the executive Committee and remuneration Committee.

Mr. lu is a director of a number of companies within the Group and holds directorship in nlI (the 
controlling shareholder of the Company), nYH, port lucky, sea Fortune and ambleside Glory (all of 
them are substantial shareholders of the Company).

Mr. lu is a member of the Henan Committee of Chinese people’s political Consultative Conference 
and the advisory Board of the MBa programmes of the Chinese university of Hong Kong. He was 
previously the vice chairman of the Chamber of Hong Kong listed Companies. He holds a Bachelor’s 
degree from the university of British Columbia in Canada.

Mr. lu is the son of Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (the Chairman and executive Director) and the brother of 
Mr. lincoln lu (the non-executive Director).

mR. YAP SHEE liAm
Executive Director
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Yap shee liam, FCPA, aged 47, joined the Group as the Financial Controller in 2015 and has been 
appointed as executive Director and Chief Financial officer since January 2021. He is also a member 
of the executive Committee and a director of a number of companies within the Group.

prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yap was an assistant finance director of Fortune real estate Investment 
trust (a real estate investment trust listed in Hong Kong and also listed in singapore prior to 2019) 
from 2012 to 2015. He was a deputy financial controller of lai sun Development Company limited 
(a company listed in Hong Kong) from 2008 to 2012. previous to that he was senior manager of  
Messrs. Deloitte touche tohmatsu from 1997 to 2008. Mr. Yap has more than 20 years of experience 
in finance, accounting, treasury and auditing.

He holds a Bachelor Degree in Business administration with major in accounting from Hong Kong 
Baptist university.
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mR. lAm Sing tAi
Non-executive Director

Mr. lam sing tai, aged 74, joined the Group in 1973 and has acted as a non-executive Director since 
april 2006. Mr. lam is a director of various members of the Group. He has over 45 years of solid 
experience in property development and investment.

mR. linColn lU
Non-executive Director

Mr. lincoln lu, aged 46, has acted as a non-executive Director since May 2017. Mr. lu joined the 
Group in 1998 and served as an executive Director during the period from December 2003 to 
May 2017. He holds directorship in nYH, port lucky and sea Fortune (all of them are substantial 
shareholders of the Company). Mr. lu is the Managing Director of orion land limited. In addition, he 
was a director of nlI (the controlling shareholder of the Company) until august 2018.

Mr. lu holds a Bachelor of arts degree from the university of British Columbia in Canada. He 
is currently a member of the 10th and 11th sichuan Committee of Chinese people’s political 
Consultative Conference (“CppCC”) and a standing member of the 12th sichuan Committee of CppCC. 
He is also an executive member of the 11th and 12th all-China Federation of Industry and Commerce.

Mr. lu is the son of Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (the Chairman and executive Director) and the brother of 
Mr. lambert lu (the executive Director and Chief executive).

mR. WAlUJo SAntoSo, WAllY
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally, aged 67, has acted as an Independent non-executive Director since 
December 1994. He is a member of the audit Committee, nomination Committee and remuneration 
Committee.

Mr. santoso is also the Managing Director of Grand ocean (International) limited (a private company 
in which Mr. santoso is a shareholder) and has over 40 years of experience in international trading 
and manufacturing. He holds a Diploma in accounting.

Mr. santoso did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in the last three years.
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mR. lEUng HoK lim
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. leung Hok lim, FCPA(Aust.), CPA(Macau), aged 85, has acted as an Independent non-executive 
Director since February 1999. He is the chairman of the audit Committee and a member of the 
nomination Committee and remuneration Committee.

Mr. leung is the founding and senior partner of pKF. He is the independent non-executive director 
of High Fashion International limited and phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) limited (both are 
companies listed in Hong Kong).

mR. CHUng PUi lAm
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Chung pui lam, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 80, has acted as an Independent non-executive Director since 
september 2004. He is the chairman of the remuneration Committee and a member of the audit 
Committee.

Mr. Chung is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He is also a non-executive director of  
Chow sang sang Holdings International limited and an independent non-executive director of 
Datronix Holdings limited (both are listed companies in Hong Kong). In addition, Mr. Chung is 
serving as consultant for numerous district organisations, industrial and commercial associations, 
trade unions and body corporates.

mR. CHAn KWoK WAi
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai, FCCA, FCPA, FCPA(Aust.), ACIS, TEP, AFP, aged 64, has acted as an Independent 
non-executive Director since June 2019. He is a member of the audit Committee.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director of south asia textiles (Holdings) limited (a private 
company incorporated in Hong Kong) which he joined in May 2020. prior to that, Mr. Chan was an 
executive director and the head of greater China at Hang seng Bank limited from February 2016 
to May 2017. He also served as an executive director of sun Hung Kai properties limited from  
July 2009 to november 2015 and the chief financial officer of the same company from July 2009 to 
January 2016. From 1995 to 2009, Mr. Chan held various roles at Hang seng Bank limited including 
executive director and general manager, chief financial officer, deputy general manager, assistant 
general manager and head of Financial Control Division. Mr. Chan served as an independent  
non-executive director of IntelliCentrics Global Holdings ltd. (a company listed in Hong Kong) for 
the period from March 2019 to January 2020. He was appointed as an accounting consultant of the 
Ministry of Finance of the people’s republic of China. Mr. Chan has more than 20 years of experience 
in accounting, banking and professional services industries. Mr. Chan holds a Master of Business 
administration degree from the university of Warwick england.
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FInanCIal HIGHlIGHts
Statement of Profit or loss Highlights

note 1: the revenue for 2017 represented continuing operations HK$576.5 million and discontinued operations HK$51.1 million  
respectively.

note 2: other than the above cash dividend declared, the distribution of a special non-cash dividend by way of distribution 
in specie of HK$3,883.8 million was completed on 15 May 2017.

HK$ million, unless otherwise stated

 For the year ended 31 december

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

revenue note 1 566.0 627.6 778.8 816.4 602.9
profit attributable to the shareholders 684.3 267.3 121.0 173.1 151.0
total dividends declared (per share) 
 (HK cents) note 2 11.0 305.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Basic earnings per share for
 profit attributable to the
 shareholders (HK$) 1.01 0.39 0.18 0.26 0.23
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HK$ million, unless otherwise stated

 As at 31 december

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

total assets 17,279.9 19,011.1 19,986.1 20,537.8 16,961.7
total liabilities (4,947.2) (12,867.0) (13,974.5) (14,287.4) (10,721.1)
adjusted naV attributable to 
 the shareholders note 1 14,831.0 9,516.4 11,405.4 11,564.2 11,274.4
adjusted naV per share attributable 
 to the shareholders (HK$) note 1 21.9 14.1 17.2 17.5 17.6
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note 1: the adjusted naV and adjusted naV per share attributable to the shareholders are calculated on the basis of the 
Group’s respective book naV after adjusting hotel property (which is on cost basis in the book) to fair market value 
determined by independent property valuers.
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FInanCIal HIGHlIGHts
Segment information

Segment Revenue  
for External Sales

Revenue for External  
Customers by  

geographical location  
of Properties

Property Assets  
by geographical  

Segment

57.3% 51.5%

29.6%

51.9%
50.1%22.1%

2020 2020 2020

2019 2019 2019

24.5% 48.2%
76.0%

23.6%

1.7%1.9%

35.3% 46.6%

68.2%

7.4% 1.9%2.2%

Financial Investment

property Investment

Hotel operation

united Kingdom

Hong Kong

australia

united Kingdom

Hong Kong

australia

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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Financial Summary

revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to HK$602.9 million (2019: HK$816.4 million).  
the revenue was principally attributable to the recognition of rental income from investment 
properties, revenue from hotel operation and income from financial investment.

profit attributable to the shareholders for the year amounted to HK$151.0 million (2019: HK$173.1 million),  
equivalent to a basic earnings per share of HK23.0 cents (2019: HK26.1 cents). the decrease in profit 
attributable to the shareholders in current year was mainly because of the significant drop in hotel 
operating results due to CoVID-19 outbreak, but largely offset by fair value surplus in investment 
properties and increase in return from financial investment, net of finance cost.

the reported profit attributable to the shareholders included a revaluation surplus on investment 
properties net of deferred taxation of HK$37.7 million (2019: HK$38.5 million). By excluding the 
effect of such surplus, the Group’s net profit attributable to the shareholders was HK$113.3 million 
(2019: HK$134.6 million), equivalent to HK17.2 cents (2019: HK20.3 cents) per share.

as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s equity attributable to the shareholders amounted to HK$6,240.6 million  
(2019: HK$6,250.4 million). the net asset value per share attributable to the shareholders as at  
31 December 2020 was HK$9.7 as compared with HK$9.4 as at 31 December 2019.

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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the Group’s property assets (including interests in joint venture) by geographical location at the year 
end were as follows:

 31 december 2020 31 December 2019
 HK$’ million HK$’ million

Hong Kong 4,243.8 4,365.2
the united Kingdom 4,697.2 4,542.3
australia 171.0 156.1

total 9,112.0 9,063.6

the Group’s hotel property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation charges at a carrying value 
of HK$566.2 million (2019: HK$586.2 million), whereas the market value as at 31 December 2020 as 
determined by valuation carried out by an independent property valuer is HK$5,600.0 million (2019: 
HK$5,900.0 million). For the purpose of providing supplementary information, if the carrying value 
of the Group’s hotel property was restated to its market value as at 31 December 2020, the adjusted 
total property assets, the adjusted net asset value and adjusted net asset value per share attributable 
to the shareholders would be HK$14,145.8 million (2019: HK$14,377.4 million), HK$11,274.4 million  
(2019: HK$11,564.2 million) and HK$17.6 (2019: HK$17.5) respectively.

dividends

the Board has resolved to recommend for shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2021 aGM 
the payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents (2019: HK3 cents) per share for the year ended  
31 December 2020 to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members at the close 
of business on Monday, 7 June 2021. the relevant dividend warrants are expected to be despatched 
on or before Friday, 18 June 2021.

together with the interim dividend of HK2 cents per share already paid (2019: HK2 cents), the total 
dividends for the year will be HK5 cents (2019: HK5 cents) per share.

Business Review

Property investment and development

the Group continues to focus on property development and property investment projects, but 
has not committed to limit its sphere of activities solely to outside the prC or to property related 
development and investments. the strategy of the Group will be determined by the Board taking 
into consideration market opportunities, the Group’s financial resources and its core competence. It 
is the Group’s approach to review and optimize the project portfolios from time to time. Currently, 
the Group’s core projects mainly consist of a residential project (no. 1 shouson Hill road east), an 
investment property in Hong Kong (a portion of Winway Building) and a joint venture residential 
development project “Grand Victoria” at West Kowloon Waterfront in Hong Kong, two investment 
properties in london, the united Kingdom (20 Moorgate and 33 old Broad street) and an investment 
property in australia (lizard Island).
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Hong Kong

During the year, the Group continues 
our effort in the residential development 
project in West Kowloon Waterfront “Grand 
Victoria”1. the project is being developed 
into a premium-graded residential project 
with its unique locational advantages 
and design. the location enjoys excellent  
connectivity with the Mtr station providing  
seamless linkages with Central, the airport,  
the highspeed rail terminus as well as most  
of the commercial districts in the region.  
superstructure work is in progress as  
scheduled and the development is expected  
to be completed by 2023. pre-sale of the 
residential units has been launched in 
March 2021. In the first launch of the pre-
sale, over 270 units of the project have 
been sold with total sale procceds of 
nearly HK$4.0 billion.

located at no. 50 Wellington street, Central, Hong Kong, “Winway Building”2, one of the Group’s 
investment properties, is at the prime location of central business district of Hong Kong and is a 
high quality commercial property with gross floor area of approximately 58,207 sq.ft.. the rental 
income generated from the property for the year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$17.3 million 
which slightly decreased primarily due to the impact of CoVID-19, including rental relief granted 
to selective tenants to help them weather through this difficult time. as at 31 December 2020, the 
occupancy rate declined to 87% (2019: 95%). Following to the slowdown of CoVID-19 pandemic, the 
occupancy rate has recovered to 95% in March 2021.

the Group owns 10 houses of residential properties at shouson Hill road east, prime situated in the 
Deep Water Bay of Hong Kong south, also known as the traditional supreme luxury residential zone, 
surrounded by lush landscaping with wide Mount nicholson view. parts of the renovation works were 
completed during the year with remaining works to be completed in 2021 by phases. Despite the 
CoVID-19 during the year, the demand for luxury home continues to show resilience amid limited 
new supply.

the United Kingdom

the Group owns two investment properties located in the heart of london in the united Kingdom.

20 Moorgate, london, a commercial and office property, is a seven-storey high-quality office 
building and located in london, less than 100 metres north of the Bank of england. It comprises 
approximately 154,854 sq. ft. (14,386 sq. m.) of Grade a office, retail and ancillary facilities arranged 
over lower ground, ground and seven upper floors. the property is almost fully let to the prudential 
regulatory authority (a regulatory body of the Bank of england) as a headquarter under long-
term lease agreements. rental income generated from the property of £7.5 million, approximately 
HK$75.3 million (2019: HK$75.5 million) during the year.

1 the Group is being a part of the consortium comprised of well-known property developers.
2 the Group owns approximately 59% of the gross floor area of Winway Building.

rendering, Grand Victoria, Hong Kong
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33 old Broad street, london, a high quality 
commercial property, is prominently positioned 
in the core of the City of london, only 150 metres  
away from the new Crossrail station - liverpool 
street station. this strategic location appeals to 
global occupiers from the financial, insurance 
and professional sectors. Moreover, the 9-storey 
property is located in an area known as the 
eastern Cluster, identified by the City of london 
Corporation as suitable for development of 
tal l buildings, providing a landmark tower 
redeve lopment oppor tun i ty . W i th a f loor 
space of 191,165 sq. ft. (17,760 sq. m.), the 
property is fully leased to Bank of scotland as 
their london Headquarter and guaranteed by 
HBos plc (a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
lloyds Banking Group) for a fixed term until 
2039 with f ixed upl ift every f ive years on 
rental. the property generated rental income of 
£10.3 million, approximately HK$103.2 million  
(2019: HK$103.2 million) during the year.

Despite the prolonged lockdown in the united Kingdom and world economy uncertainties during the 
CoVID-19 pandemic, the Group did not have any rent arrear from the above tenants in the united Kingdom,  
reflecting the Group’s success in making investment strategy and the Group’s capability to withstand 
in any market instability.

Australia

lizard Island resort, an australia’s northern-most island resort, uniquely locates on the Great barrier 
reef, 240 kilometres north of Cairns, and has 24 powdery-white beaches, over 1000 hectares of 
national park, 40 luxurious beach lodges. lizard Island has been consistently ranked as one of the 
world’s top luxury island resorts. as at 31 December 2020, the property was fully let to a hotel 
operator on a long-term lease guaranteed by an investment grade conglomerate. the rental income 
generated from the property for year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$13.4 million (2019: HK$15.4 million).

33 old Broad street, london

lizard Island resort, Queensland
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Hotel operation

Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay 
is a 29-storey five-star hotel comprising 
263 guest rooms with ancillary facilities 
and is operated under the brand of 
Crowne plaza of the InterContinental 
Hotels Group. Due to the outbreak of 
CoVID-19 and its adverse impact on 
cross border and international travel 
since January 2020, the global hotel 
industry and the performance of our 
hotel have been negatively affected. 
For the year ended 31 December 2020,  
the hote l revenue and operat ing  
results dropped significantly, which was  
HK$44.8 million (2019: HK$192.3 million).

the Group is taking all practicable measures to cope with the challenges. We prioritize in delivering 
feeling of safety to our guests, putting in place strict sanitisation and hygiene protocol. Moreover, we 
have finished rebranding of our existing restaurant outlets and introducing a new Italian restaurant 
for having an all-new dining experience to the guests, and at the same time, taking decisive decision 
to reduce operating costs. the Group will continue to improve the quality of its hotel services to 
ensure our guests have enjoyable experiences during their stays in our hotel.

Financial investment

adhering to prudent management of our capital, the Group continues to optimize its capital structure 
and prioritise access to ample liquidity under the low interest rate environment. During the year, the 
Group has stragetically invested in pre-Ipo shares of China evergrande property services Group limited, 
which was classified under equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
as at 31 December 2020, the Group held financial investment of approximately HK$4,412.3 million  
(31 December 2019: HK$5,880.8 million), which are comprised of listed equity and debt securities 
and unlisted investments.

Financial Resources and liquidity

Working Capital and loan Facilities

as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash was 
HK$3,384.2 million (2019: HK$5,526.1 million), total financial investments (including debt instruments 
at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 
equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income) were HK$4,412.3 million (2019: 
HK$5,880.8 million) and unutilised facilities were HK$3,332.1 million (2019: HK$2,412.4 million).

sushi Ikkon at Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank borrowings was HK$9,123.0 million (2019: HK$11,060.0 million)  
and the guaranteed notes was HK$1,158.2 million (2019: HK$2,718.3 million). after netting off the  
bank balance, cash and the financial investments, the Group had a net debt position of HK$2,484.7 million  
(2019: HK$2,371.5 million) with gearing ratio of 17.6% (2019: 16.5%) (calculated on the basis of net 
debt as a percentage of the adjusted total property assets with hotel property adjusted to fair market 
value of HK$5,600.0 million (2019: HK$5,900.0 million)).

as at 31 December 2020, maturity of the Group’s outstanding borrowings (including the guaranteed 
notes) was as follows:

 31 december 2020 31 December 2019
 HK$’ million HK$’ million

Due
Within 1 year 3,516.3 7,327.3
1-2 years 1,118.4 1,382.7
3-5 years 5,681.8 5,109.2

 10,316.5 13,819.2
less: unamortised front-end fee and 
    notes issued expenses (35.3) (40.9)

 10,281.2 13,778.3

Pledge of Assets

For the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, the total bank borrowings drawn as at  
31 December 2020 amounted to HK$6,274.3 million (2019: HK$8,303.2 million) which comprised 
of secured bank borrowings of HK$4,722.8 million (2019: HK$6,144.2 million) and unsecured bank 
borrowings of HK$1,551.5 million (2019: HK$2,159.0 million). the secured bank borrowings were 
secured by properties valued at HK$3,020.2 million (2019: HK$2,330.2 million), listed debt securities 
of HK$3,879.6 million (2019: HK$4,891.5 million) and pledged cash of HK$29.8 million (2019: 
HK$499.0 million).

subsidiaries of the Company operating in australia and the united Kingdom pledged its investment 
properties with an aggregate carrying value of HK$4,868.2 million (2019: HK$4,698.5 million) as at 
31 December 2020 to secure bank borrowings of HK$2,879.5 million (2019: HK$2,790.7 million).

treasury Policies

the Group adheres to prudent treasury policies. as at 31 December 2020, all of the Group’s 
borrowings except the guaranteed notes were raised through its wholly-owned subsidiaries on a non-
recourse basis.
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Staff and Emolument Policy

as at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 133 employees (2019: 225 employees) in Hong Kong.  
employee costs, including the emoluments of the directors of the Group, amounted to HK$77.8 million  
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$115.8 million).

the Group maintains a good working relationship with its employees and continues to recruit, 
retain and develop competent individuals committed for its long-term success and growth. salary 
and benefits of employees are reviewed at least annually both in response to market conditions 
and trends, and in conjunction with individual appraisals based on qualifications, experience, skills, 
responsibilities, performance and development potentials. Discretionary bonuses are granted in line 
with the Group’s financial results and employees’ performance. Fringe benefits including medical 
insurance scheme, study and training allowances, examination leave and voluntary employer 
contributions to retirement schemes are offered to employees. In addition, to retain and motivate 
management staff and good performers, the Company has adopted an employee share option 
scheme and a share award scheme with options to subscribe for shares in the Company and awards 
of shares being granted by the Group to its employees (including Directors) on a discretionary basis. 
to further enhance employee relations and communications, recreational activities for general staff 
with senior management’s participation are arranged.

lizard Island resort, Queensland
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outlook

after hard hit by the CoVID-19 pandemic, the Mainland economy contracted by 6.8% in the first 
quarter of 2020. However, through effective measures against CoVID-19, the CoVID-19 pandemic 
has been rapidly controlled and the economy has swiftly recovered since the second quarter of 2020. 
the Mainland becomes the only major economy with positive annual growth for 2020. Despite the 
evolving us-China relations, the Mainland economy is likely to sustain robust growth in 2021.

For Hong Kong, the already weak economy has been hammered by the CoVID-19 pandemic. In 2020, 
the economy contracted by 6.1%, which is the biggest annual contraction on record, and registered 
a contraction for the second consecutive years. although the vaccination programmes have been 
launched in Hong Kong since February 2021, the pace of recovery will be slow.

trading and office rental for property dropped in the first quarter of 2020 due to the rising 
unemployment rate and vacancy rate. nevertheless, after adjusting upward the loan-to-value ratio 
caps for mortgage loans from 40% to 50% in august 2020 and abolishment of the Doubled ad 
Valorem stamp Duty in late november 2020 on non-residential property transactions, the market has 
slightly revived. looking ahead, as the business environment remains tough and the local epidemic 
situation remains volatile, the property market will face pressure in the near term. nonetheless, 
taking into account the tight demand-supply balance of private flats and the sustained low interest 
rate environment, we expect the residential property market to stay resilient in the long run, 
especially if border re-opening and economy recovery help to release demand from Mainland China. 
Demand for luxury home continues to show resilience amid limited new supply. luxury home market 
may see stronger rebound.

the hospitality industry in Hong Kong has gone 
through an extremely tough year. Following the 
social unrest a year ago, the CoVID-19 pandemic 
and the resultant stringent travel restrictions 
imposed by governments across the globe further 
hard hit the industry in 2020. even if availability 
of vaccines across the world and more stable local 
epidemic situation have raised hopes for lifting of 
border controls and social distancing measures, the 
road ahead for hospitality still looks challenging. 
Having said that, we see potential demand from 
tourists, especially the Mainland Chinese, who 
consider Hong Kong their preferred leisure travel 
and shopping destination. after pandemic, we are 
of the view that the Mainland tourists will come 
and visit Hong Kong again. as such, our Group has 
proactively renovated our guest rooms, rebranded 
our restaurant outlets, improved our efficiency and 
cost management to sustain our business while 
prepared to restore our performance once tourism 
industry recovers its momentum. Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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the united Kingdom is one of the countries which were seriously suffered from the CoVID-19 
pandemic in 2020. since March 2020, the CoVID-19 pandemic outbreak and the resultant disruption 
of market activities by the ongoing lockdown have took a heavy toll to the united Kingdom. 
supported by the speedy rollout of vaccines, as well as a significant decrease in recent infection 
rates, the lockdown restrictions have been gradually lifting. In spite of the prospect that life may 
be back to normal soon, the united Kingdom, as one of the countries hardest hit by the coronavirus 
pandemic, is predicted to have a weak economic growth prospects in 2021. nonetheless, having 
reputable tenants under long leases with high grade covenants, the Group’s property portfolio in the 
united Kingdom is expected to continue to contribute stable rental income to the Group. after Brexit, 
london continues to be a key global financial center. the Group remains confident in london to 
maintain this status and will continue to look for investment opportunities in london.

2021 will be a challenging year. over its long history, sea Group has witnessed the economic 
turbulence and social upheavals in Hong Kong and the world. throughout the years, the Group 
had weathered these storms with equanimity. our Group has been monitoring the global and local 
economy development and performed prudent risk and crisis management over the Group’s financial 
liquidity and investment and property portfolio. With the Group’s professional management team, 
robust financial capabilities, quality corporate governance practice and adherence to its philosophy of  
“Building with the times”, we are confident that our Group will withstand the current market 
instability and grow as opportunities arise.
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Results Announcements

2020 annual results announcement 26 March 2021 (Friday)

2021 Interim results announcement on or before 31 august 2021 (tuesday)

Book Close dates

For ascertaining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2021 Annual general meeting

latest time to lodge transfer documents 4:30 p.m. on 21 May 2021 (Friday)

Closure of register of members 24 May 2021 (Monday) to 28 May 2021 (Friday)
 (both days inclusive)

record date 24 May 2021 (Monday)

For ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend

latest time to lodge transfer documents 4:30 p.m. on 2 June 2021 (Wednesday)

Closure of register of members 3 June 2021 (thursday) to 7 June 2021 (Monday)
 (both days inclusive)

record date 7 June 2021 (Monday)

Annual general meeting

2021 aGM 28 May 2021 (Friday)

Final dividend

ex-dividend date for 2020 final dividend 1 June 2021 (tuesday)

payment of 2020 final dividend
(subject to shareholders’ approval at the 2021 aGM) 18 June 2021 (Friday)
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the Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the Company’s 
development and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying, formulating, establishing and 
enhancing corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs. the Board, having 
regard to the size and nature of businesses of the Group, periodically reviews the Company’s 
corporate governance practices to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and comply with 
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements.

i. Corporate governance Practices

throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has applied the principles and 
complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in appendix 14 to the 
listing rules.

ii. Board of directors

Composition

as at the date of this report, the Board have nine members comprising three executive 
Directors, two non-executive Directors and four IneD.

Board of directors

Executive Directors

Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman)
Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive)
Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed on 1 January 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. lam sing tai
Mr. lincoln lu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally
Mr. leung Hok lim
Mr. Chung pui lam
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

the Board, with the recommendation of the nomination Committee, appointed Mr. Yap shee liam  
as the executive Director and Chief Financial officer on 1 January 2021.

Messrs Yap shee liam, lam sing tai, Walujo santoso, Wally and leung Hok lim will retire  
by rotation at the forthcoming 2021 aGM in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the 
CG Code. Messrs lam sing tai and leung Hok lim have informed the Board that they will not 
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the 2021 aGM.

an updated list of Directors and their respective roles and functions has been maintained on 
the websites of the Company and HKex. Biographical particulars of the existing Directors are 
set out in the section headed “Directors’ Biographical Information” on pages 19 to 21.
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More than one-third of the Board are IneD and at least an IneD possesses appropriate 
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

the Company has received from each of the IneD an annual confirmation in writing of his 
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the listing rules and considers all of the IneD including 
their immediate family members (as defined in the listing rules) are independent.

Role and Function

the Company is governed by the Board and the Directors are accountable to the shareholders 
for the activities and performance of the Group. to oversee the Group’s business and 
development, the Board has reserved for its decision and consideration the following matters:

(i) adoption and overall oversight of objectives and strategic plans;

(ii) amendment to memorandum of association and bye-laws as well as alteration of share 
capital;

(iii) approval of interim dividends and other distribution and recommendation of final 
dividends for shareholders’ approval;

(iv) establishment of Board committees and delegation of powers of the Board to the Board 
committees;

(v) appointment, re-appointment, re-designation and removal of Board members;

(vi) approval of significant accounting policies and practices;

(vii) oversight of corporate governance, risk management and internal controls; and

(viii) other significant matters.

Matters other than mentioned above have been delegated by the Board to the management 
and the major ones are execution of the Board’s decisions (including business strategies and 
initiatives it has adopted) and daily operations, preparation of annual and interim financial 
statements for the Board’s approval before public reporting, implementation of adequate 
systems of internal control and risk management as well as compliance with relevant 
requirements, rules and regulations.

the non-executive Directors (including IneD) serve the relevant function of bringing 
independent judgement and valuable guidance and advice on the development, performance 
and risk management of the Group.

the four IneD come from diverse business and professional backgrounds in the fields of 
international trading, financial, accounting, laws and business management, rendering valuable 
expertise and experience to promote the best interests of the Company and its shareholders 
as a whole and ensuring that issues are considered in an independent and a more objective 
manner. the IneD also serve on the audit, remuneration and nomination Committees. 
Compositions of these Board committees are set out on pages 41 to 45.
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Corporate governance Function

the Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:

(i) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(ii) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors 
and senior management;

(iii) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and 
Directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate 
Governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate 
governance practices.

directors’ Appointment, Retirement and Re-election

all non-executive Directors (including IneD) have entered into letters of appointment with 
the Company for a term of three years. pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and the CG Code, 
every Director shall retire from office no later than the third aGM after he was last elected or 
re-elected. Further, any Director appointed by the Board as an additional Board member or to 
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company and 
shall then be eligible for re-election.

For an IneD who has served the Company for more than nine years, his further appointment 
will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders. the papers to the 
shareholders accompanying that resolution will include the reasons why the Board believes he 
is still independent and should be re-elected.

Board diversity Policy

the Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the 
quality of its performance and adopted the Board Diversity policy in august 2013.

under the Board Diversity policy, all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits 
of diversity on the Board. selection of candidates will be considered by the Company from 
a number of aspects, including but not limited to cultural and educational background, 
experience, skills, knowledge, length of service, age and gender. the Company’s business 
model and specific needs will also be taken into account in determining the optimum 
composition of the Board.

the nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity policy 
and will from time to time review the Board Diversity policy, as appropriate, and recommend 
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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meetings

the Board conducts meetings on a regular basis with at least 14 days’ notice and on an ad hoc 
basis with reasonable notice that are required for significant and important issues. Before each 
Board and committee meetings, relevant agendas and documents with appropriate information 
are sent to Directors who are consulted for including matters in the agendas. the Board has 
four scheduled meetings a year to, amongst other matters, approve the final results and 
interim results respectively and consider financial and operating performances of the Company. 
all businesses transacted at the Board meetings are well-documented and the records are 
maintained properly. the Board members are provided with appropriate and sufficient 
information in a timely manner to keep abreast of the Group’s latest developments.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held four meetings and the attendance 
record of each Director is set out in the following table:

 Attendance/number of
directors Board meetings held in 2020

Executive Directors
Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive) 4/4
Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) note
 (appointed on 1 January 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. lam sing tai 4/4
Mr. lincoln lu 4/4

INED
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally 4/4
Mr. leung Hok lim 4/4
Mr. Chung pui lam 4/4
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 4/4

note: Mr. Yap shee liam as the Financial Controller of the Company attended the four regular board 
meetings held in 2020.

the Chairman met all IneD without the presence of other Directors in 2020.
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Relationship

Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (the Chairman and executive Director) is the father of Mr. lambert lu (the 
executive Director and Chief executive) and Mr. lincoln lu (the non-executive Director). other 
than this, there is no financial, business, family and other material relationship among other 
members of the Board.

notwithstanding the above relationships, there has been an effective and balanced board 
collectively responsible for the Company’s activities and affairs. In addition, the roles of the 
Chairman and the Chief executive are separate and performed by different Directors. their 
roles and responsibilities had been clearly set out and approved by the Board.

During the year 2020, more than half of the Board members were non-executive Directors 
(including IneD) whose views carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions. Directors have 
been free to discuss issues properly put to the Board meetings and express their views and 
concerns. no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-making process.

training, Professional development and insurance for directors

When a newly-appointed Director joins the Group, he/she will receive an induction briefing that 
will give him/her an understanding of the Group, its businesses and Director’s responsibilities. 
the Company has provided the new Director, Mr. Yap shee liam, with an induction on his 
appointment in 2021.

Directors are provided with timely updates on changes in laws and compliance issues relevant 
to the Group. the Company also encourages its Directors to enroll in relevant professional 
development courses to continually update and further improve their relevant knowledge 
and skills. an in-house training session conducted by a solicitors’ firm was organised by 
the Company in the year 2020 as part of the continuous professional development for its 
Directors to update them on the latest developments regarding the listing rules and applicable 
regulatory requirements in discharging their duties.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, Directors were also provided with monthly updates 
on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and 
each Director to discharge their duties.
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a summary of training participated by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2020 
is as follows:

 Attend seminars and/or Reading regulatory
 reading materials updates and
 in relation to information relevant
 updates on laws, rules to the group
directors and regulations or its business

Executive Directors
Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman) ✓ ✓

Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive) ✓ ✓

Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) note n/a
 (appointed on 1 January 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. lam sing tai ✓ ✓

Mr. lincoln lu ✓ ✓

INED
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally ✓ ✓

Mr. leung Hok lim ✓ ✓

Mr. Chung pui lam ✓ ✓

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ✓ ✓

note: Mr. Yap shee liam as the Financial Controller of the Company attended the in-house training session 
held in 2020.

the Company has also arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the Directors for 
indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
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iii. delegation — Board Committees

the Board has properly delegated its powers and established the audit Committee, nomination 
Committee, remuneration Committee and executive Committee with specific written terms of 
reference that clearly deal with their authority and duties, to oversee particular aspects of the 
Company’s affairs and assist in the execution of the Board’s responsibilities.

Audit Committee

Composition

the audit Committee was established in 1999. the terms of reference of the audit Committee 
were published on the websites of the Company and HKex. the audit Committee currently 
comprises of four members and all of them are IneD. the attendance record of the committee 
members at the meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

 Attendance/number of
 Audit Committee meetings
Committee members held in 2020

INED
Mr. leung Hok lim (chairman) 2/2
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally 2/2
Mr. Chung pui lam 2/2
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai 2/2

Board
(Members: all Directors)

audit Committee
(Members: all INED)

nomination Committee
(Members: the Chairman 

and two INED)

remuneration Committee
(Members: three INED  

and two Executive 
Directors)

executive Committee
(Members: all  

Executive Directors)



Corporate GoVernanCe report

42 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

Role and Function

the primary duties of the audit Committee are to ensure the objectivity and credibility of 
financial reporting, the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable 
standards, the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems as well as to maintain an appropriate relationship with the independent external 
auditor of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the audit Committee met twice with representatives 
of the management and Deloitte (the independent auditor of the Company) to discuss the 
auditing and financial reporting matters. During the meetings, the audit Committee in particular 
reviewed and discussed about:

(i) the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group;

(ii) the annual results (including the announcement thereof) and the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019;

(iii) the interim results (including the announcement thereof) and the financial statements for 
the six months ended 30 June 2020;

(iv) any significant findings by the independent auditor during the financial audit and other 
audit issues;

(v) the letters of management representations issued to the independent auditor in 
connection with the audit or review of the Group’s relevant financial statements; and

(vi) the risk management and internal control systems including the adequacy of resources, 
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
function, and their training programmes and budget.

the audit Committee also recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Deloitte 
and reviewed the relevant audit fees. In March 2021, the audit Committee reviewed with 
representatives of the management and Deloitte the audited consolidated financial statements 
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 and was of the opinion that such 
financial statements had been prepared in compliance with applicable financial reporting 
standards and requirements and adequate disclosure had been made.
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nomination Committee

Composition

the nomination Committee was established in 2012. Its terms of reference can be found on 
the websites of the Company and HKex. the nomination Committee currently comprises of 
three members including the Chairman and two IneD. the attendance record of the committee 
members at the meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the 
following table:

 Attendance/number of
 nomination Committee meeting
Committee members held in 2020

Executive Director
Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (chairman) 1/1

INED
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally 1/1
Mr. leung Hok lim 1/1

Role and Function

the principal role of the nomination Committee includes, inter alia, reviewing the structure, 
size and composition of the Board with due regard to the Board Diversity policy, making 
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s 
corporate strategy.

the Board adopted the nomination policy in March 2014 setting out the criteria, procedures 
and process for nomination of Directors. When identifying candidates to be appointed as 
Director, the nomination Committee shall make evaluation of the proposed candidate pursuant 
to the nomination criteria and make recommendation to the Board if appropriate. the Board 
shall make decisions on the appointment based on the recommendation of the nomination 
Committee. the nomination policy contains a number of factors in assessing the suitability of a 
proposed candidate which include the candidate’s skills, competence, experience, professional 
and educational qualifications, time commitment, diversity perspectives set out in the Board 
Diversity policy and the independence criteria under rule 3.13 of the listing rules if the 
candidate is proposed to be appointed as an IneD.

the nomination Committee also reviews the expertise and overall contribution of the retiring 
Directors who standing for re-election at the aGM to the Company and recommends such 
retiring Directors to the Board for re-election at the aGM.

the nomination Committee held a meeting in the financial year under review and a meeting in 
January 2021 to review the structure, size, composition of the Board and the Board Diversity 
policy, assess the independence of IneD and make recommendations in relation to the  
re-appointment of retiring Directors who will offer themselves for re-election at the coming 
aGM.
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In December 2020, the nomination Committee recommended the Board to appoint Mr. Yap shee liam  
as an executive Director and Chief Financial officer. In arriving the decision of nomination of 
Mr. Yap, the nomination Committee considered various factors including the size, structure and 
composition of the Board, Mr. Yap’s qualification, past working experience, proven performance 
with the Group and diversity of the Board. the Board accepted the nomination Committee’s  
recommendation and appointed Mr. Yap as executive Director and Chief Financial officer on  
1 January 2021.

In the meeting held in January 2021, the nomination Committee also considered the proposed 
changes to the memberships of the audit Committee, the nomination Committee and the 
remuneration Committee following the retirement of Mr. leung Hok lim at the 2021 aGM in 
order to comply with the relevant CG Code and listing rules’ requirements.

Remuneration Committee

Composition

the remuneration Committee was established in 2005. Its terms of reference can be found on 
the websites of the Company and HKex. the remuneration Committee currently comprises of 
five members including three IneD and two executive Directors. the attendance record of the 
committee members at the meeting held during the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in 
the following table:

 Attendance/number of
 Remuneration Committee meeting
Committee members held in 2020

INED
Mr. Chung pui lam (chairman) 1/1
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally 1/1
Mr. leung Hok lim 1/1

Executive Directors
Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse 1/1
Mr. lambert lu 1/1

Role and Function

the remuneration Committee is responsible for, amongst other matters, establishing a 
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies and overseeing the 
remuneration packages for the executive Directors and non-executive Directors and ensuring 
that no Director will be involved in deciding his own remuneration. the remuneration 
Committee has adopted the operation model where it determines the remuneration packages of 
individual executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of individual non-executive Directors.

In determining the Directors’ emoluments, the remuneration Committee takes into 
consideration factors such as the qualifications, experience, time commitment, responsibilities, 
performance, contribution and remuneration of the Directors for previous years, the Company’s 
profitability, emoluments paid by comparable companies and employment conditions elsewhere 
in the Group.
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at 2019 aGM, the shareholders passed an ordinary resolution to authorise the Directors to fix 
the directors’ fees for an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$5.0 million per annum.

the remuneration Committee held a meeting in the financial year under review and a meeting 
in January 2021 for the purposes of determining matters relating to the remuneration packages 
of the executive Directors as well as making recommendation to the Board on the remuneration 
packages of the non-executive Directors (including IneD).

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Executive Committee

Composition

the executive Committee was set up in 1990 and is currently comprised of three executive 
Directors.

Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman)
Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive)
Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed on 1 January 2021)

Role and Function

the executive Committee is primarily responsible for supervising and undertaking the day-
to-day operations of the Group. It exercises leadership and develops and keeps under review 
business development initiatives of the Group and monitors their implementation. the 
executive Committee meets as and when necessary.

iV. Securities transactions by directors and Employees

the Company has adopted the Model Code set out in appendix 10 to the listing rules as its 
own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

In response to the specific enquiry made on them by the Company, all Directors have confirmed 
in writing that they had complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code 
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares in the Company are contained in the section 
headed “Directors’ report” on pages 60 to 62.

the Company has also adopted a code with no less exacting terms than the Model Code for the 
directors and employees of the Group (other than the Directors) to regulate their dealings in the 
shares of the Company, as they are likely to be in possession of inside information in relation 
to such shares because of their office or employment.
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V. directors’ Responsibility for Preparing Financial Statements

the Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the 
Group which give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs and of its results. their 
responsibilities have also been stated in the section headed “Independent auditor’s report” 
on page 70. In doing so, the Directors select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently and make accounting estimates that are appropriate in the circumstances. With the 
assistance of the accounting and finance department of the Company, the Directors ensure that 
the financial statements of the Group are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements 
and appropriate financial reporting standards.

In addition, the Directors ensure timely publication of the financial statements of the Group.

Vi. Risk management and internal Control

the Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and ensuring effective implementation 
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their 
effectiveness by the audit Committee to safeguard the shareholders’ interest and the 
Company’s assets. However, these systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk 
of failure in operational system, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss.

the Group has implemented an effective internal control system which includes a defined 
management structure with clear lines of responsibility and limits of authority, proper 
procedures for income and expenditure, monthly review by the executive Directors of 
operational and financial reports provided by the management, regular business meetings 
between the executive Directors and the core management team and periodic review of the 
Group’s financial results by the Board.

the Board, through the audit Committee, reviews regularly the effectiveness and adequacy 
of the Group’s internal control system which includes financial, operational and compliance 
mechanisms and risk management functions in order to identify, evaluate and manage risks 
and take appropriate measures to avoid or mitigate those risks that could adversely impact the 
Group’s business activities. the review also includes the adequacy of resources, qualifications 
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and 
their training programmes and budget. the review process consists of, amongst other matters, 
assessment and implementation of material control issues identified by an independent 
external auditor during the statutory audit.

During the year 2020, the Company has engaged an independent consultant to perform an 
internal audit review on the operations of the Group in order to assist the Group to assess its 
internal control system in general.

the work approach of the review conducted by the independent consultant includes:

(i) making enquiries with appropriate management and key process owners to obtain a 
thorough understanding of the operations of the in-scope processes and to identify 
major risks, respective internal controls and significant design deficiencies of the internal 
control system;
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(ii) performing walkthrough tests and identified deficiencies for the key internal control 
procedures;

(iii) performing necessary substantive procedures to identify operating deficiencies of the key 
internal control procedures; and

(iv) following completion of the review, the independent consultant makes appropriate 
recommendations for improving and strengthening the Group’s internal control system to 
the audit Committee for approval.

In the year under review, no material issues on the Group’s internal control system have been 
identified in the reviewed areas and the findings of the review have been reported to the audit 
Committee. the independent consultant also performed follow-up review on the remedial 
actions undertaken by the management of the Group on the control deficiencies identified 
during the course of the internal audit review conducted in 2019. the Board considered that 
the risk management and internal control system was adequate and effective.

Vii. Handling and dissemination of inside information

the Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the sFo and the listing rules and the 
overriding principle that inside information should be announced immediately when it is the 
subject of a decision.

the Board adopted the Inside Information policy in august 2019 which provides a general guide 
to the Group’s officers and employees in handling confidential information and ensure that 
inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in a timely manner in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

Below is a summary of key provisions of the Inside Information policy:

(i) officers and employees must follow the reporting channels for disclosing the inside 
information and take reasonable care for safeguard the confidentiality of all inside 
information;

(ii) the executive Directors are empowered to take appropriate actions to ensure compliance 
with the disclosure requirements including issuing announcements and making a request 
to the stock exchange for a trading halt in case the Company is facing an unexpected and 
significant event; and

(iii) Directors and employees of the Group must not deal in the Company’s securities when 
they are in possession of unpublished inside information.

the Group also keeps the Directors and employees appraised of the latest regulatory updates 
on disclosure requirements of inside information.
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Viii. dividend Policy

the Board adopted the Dividend policy in December 2018 which sets out the frequency, 
forms and criteria of dividend payout in order to provide stable and sustainable returns to the 
shareholders that allows the shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits and for the 
Company to retain adequate reserves for future development.

the Company may distribute dividends by way of cash and/or by way of distribution in specie, 
subject to the applicable rules and requirements under the Bermuda law and the Company’s 
constitutional documents. the Board takes into account, inter alia, the following factors in 
deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount:-

(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and its subsidiaries;

(iii) the cash flow position of the Group;

(iv) the Group’s working capital requirements and future expansion plans; and

(v) general economic conditions and other internal and external factors that may have an 
impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Group.

the Company will review the Dividend policy from time to time and reserves the right in its 
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend policy at any time. 
the Dividend policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company 
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way to obligate the Company 
to declare a dividend for any given period.

iX. independent Auditor’s Reporting Responsibility

the statement of Deloitte, Certified public accountants, the independent auditor of the 
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the financial statements of the Group is set 
out in the section headed “Independent auditor’s report” on pages 71 and 72. representatives 
of Deloitte also attend the aGMs to answer questions which the shareholders may have.
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X. independent Auditor’s Remuneration

at the aGM held on 26 May 2020, Deloitte was re-appointed by the shareholders as 
independent auditor of the Company at a fee to be agreed by the Board. the total fees paid/
payable to Deloitte in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided during the year 
ended 31 December 2020 are set out as follows:

 HK$’000

audit services 1,834
non-audit services (reviewing and other reporting services) 870

total 2,704

Xi. going Concern

the Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief and having 
made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.

Xii. Communication with Shareholders

the Board has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy with the objective of ensuring 
that its communications with the shareholders are timely, transparent, accurate and open. 
Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders through a number of channels 
as follows:

(i) corporate communication such as annual reports, interim reports and circulars are 
available in printed form and electronic form on the websites of the Company and HKex;

(ii) periodic announcements are made through the stock exchange and published on the 
respective websites of the Company and HKex;

(iii) corporate information is made available on the Company’s website;

(iv) aGMs and sGMs provide a forum for shareholders to make comments and exchange views 
with the Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar serves the shareholders in respect of 
share registration, election of means of receipt of corporate communications and related 
matters.
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to preserve environment and increase efficiency in communication with the shareholders, the 
Company made arrangements pursuant to rule 2.07a of the listing rules and the Bye-laws 
of the Company for the shareholders to elect to receive future corporate communications in 
printed form or by electronic means through the Company’s website. shareholders have the 
right to change their choice of receipt of our corporate communications at any time by giving 
reasonable notice to the Company. the change request form may be downloaded from the 
websites of the Company and HKex.

separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each substantial issue including the 
election of individual Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, an aGM was held on 26 May 2020. all resolutions 
relating to ordinary businesses and special businesses proposed at the aGM were duly passed.

the attendance records of the existing Directors at the aGM are set out in the following table:

 Attendance
directors at the 2020 Agm

Executive Directors
Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman) ✓

Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive) ✓

Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) n/a
 (appointed on 1 January 2021)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. lam sing tai ✓

Mr. lincoln lu ✓

INED
Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally ✓

Mr. leung Hok lim ✓

Mr. Chung pui lam ✓

Mr. Chan Kwok Wai ✓

Xiii. Shareholders’ Rights

Convening Special general meeting

shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company may 
request the Board to convene a sGM. the purposes of the meeting must be stated in the related 
requisition and deposited at the Company’s registered office and principal place of business in 
Hong Kong. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of a request (after 
being verified to be valid) proceed to convene a sGM, the shareholders concerned, or any of 
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves 
convene a sGM, but any sGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months 
from the date of the deposit of the request.
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Putting forward proposals at general meetings

shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of those shareholders 
having the right to vote at a general meeting or not less than one hundred shareholders 
can submit a written request to move a resolution at a general meeting. the written request 
must state the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not more than 1,000 words  
with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution and deposited at the 
Company’s registered office and principal place of business in Hong Kong not less than six 
weeks before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, and not 
less than one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. upon the request 
verified to be valid, the Company will give notice of the resolution or circulate the statement 
provided that the shareholders concerned have deposited a sum reasonably sufficient to meet 
the Company’s expenses in regard thereto.

XiV. Constitutional documents

the constitutional documents of the Company are available on the websites of the Company 
and HKex. there is no change in the constitutional documents during the year ended  
31 December 2020.

XV. investor Relations

the Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication with the 
shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and 
the public who may contact the Company by the following means:

(i) By phone at (852) 2828 6363 during normal business hours
(ii) By fax at (852) 2598 6861
(iii) By e-mail to info@seagroup.com.hk
(iv) By post to 26/F., everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

XVi. looking Forward

the above corporate governance practices will be monitored, reviewed, amended and revoked 
from time to time as considered necessary by the Board. the Company will take appropriate 
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards including the code 
provisions and if reasonably practicable, the recommended best practices of the CG Code at all 
times.
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the Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal Activities

During the year 2020, the Company acted as an investment holding company and the activities of its 
principal subsidiaries were property investment, property development, hotel operation and financial 
investment in Hong Kong, australia and the united Kingdom.

other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 are set out in 
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review and Performance

a review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 and a discussion 
on the Group’s future business development, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be 
facing are provided in the “Chairman’s statement” on pages 12 and 13, “Chief executive’s report” on 
pages 14 to 18  and “Management Discussion and analysis” on pages 25 to 33 of this annual report.

Description of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found in 
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 December 2020 using financial 
key performance indicators is provided in the “Chairman’s statement” on pages 12 and 13, “Chief 
executive’s report” on pages 14 to 18  and “Management Discussion and analysis” on pages 25 to 33 
of this annual report.

Environmental Protection

the Group recognises its responsibility to protect and preserve the environment from its business 
operations and has formulated a corporate social responsibility policy statement to demonstrate 
its determination to care for the environment. the Group continually seeks to identify and manage 
environmental impacts attributable to its operational activities and strives to minimise these impacts.

energy saving measures have been implemented at the main office in order to reduce power 
and paper consumption. use of power-saving mode in office equipment, leD lighting and indoor 
temperature control are applied to minimise power consumption. application of e-system, setting 
printers from single-sided printing mode to double-sided printing mode, and recycling of papers and 
stationery are carried out to reduce paper consumption and to achieve cost savings. the Group also 
makes an effort to raise its staff’s energy-saving awareness and regularly reminds them to switch off 
lighting and electronic devices after use.
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the Group has also actively promoted material-savings and implemented policies to reduce waste 
generated from its business activities. Water saving practices such as water saving signage is posted 
at the pantry to remind staff to save water resources. Its financial reports have also been printed on 
Forest stewardship Council-certified (FsC) papers since 2015. to further save paper resources, the 
Company has made arrangements to its shareholders to receive corporate documents like financial 
reports and circulars in electronic form instead of printed copies since 2019. after implementation 
of the e-communication arrangements, the number of printed copies of corporate documents issued 
by the Company to its shareholders during the year 2020 reduced by approximately 36%. Waste 
electrical and electronic equipment (Weee) such as computers, printers and photocopiers were sent 
to recyclers for processing. the recycling of materials in our operations, including papers, plastic 
bottles, stationery and office equipment, are highly encouraged. Hazardous waste such as used 
ink and toner cartridges are returned to the service providers to minimise adverse impacts on the 
environment.

Crowne plaza Hong Kong Causeway Bay (“Crowne plaza”) has also adopted a number of supportive 
measures in its hotel operations to reduce energy consumption. It has adopted leD lighting in the 
hotel and switched off lighting and electronic devices when not in use. Besides, all equipment is 
serviced and maintained ensuring maximum efficiency and major equipment including chiller plants 
is subject to seasonal adjustments for reducing electricity consumption but without affecting the 
comfort of the hotel’s occupants.

at Crowne plaza, water is mainly used for guests rooms and outlets kitchens. to implement water-
saving measures, Crowne plaza has implemented water consumption system designated for real-time 
data collection on the amount of water used. Besides, it has installed water-saving taps in kitchens 
and washrooms since 2018 to reduce water consumption.

Crowne plaza deploys the concept of waste management in its operation for proper waste handling. 
the drop off points of recyclable items such as cardboards, newspapers and metals are identified 
and plotted while hazardous materials mainly chemicals are disposed of at an approved hazardous 
waste disposal facility. It also conducts audit of hazardous materials annually and performs regular 
checks of their storage area. Crowne plaza also strives to minimize waste generation by reusing and 
recycling of papers, battery and card boards.

Compliance with laws and Regulations

the Group complies with applicable rules and regulations governing property development and 
property investment in Hong Kong and holds relevant required licences for provision of services. 
With respect to the overseas properties held by the Group, it engages external professional advisors 
to ensure the compliance with applicable laws and regulations of that jurisdictions. During the year 
under review, there was no reported incident of material non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group’s business.

the Group establishes and protects its intellectual property rights and has registered its domain 
name. Various trademarks have been applied for or registered in various classes in Hong Kong, 
the prC and other relevant jurisdictions. the Group takes all appropriate actions to enforce its 
intellectual property rights.
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It is the policy of the Group to strictly prohibit bribery, corruption and money laundering activities 
to ensure the conduct of the Group companies and employees are in compliance with the applicable 
rules and regulations. all staff members are required to strictly adhere to the provisions of the 
prevention of Bribery ordinance and may not solicit or accept for his personal benefit any advantage 
which includes benefits in money or in any kind from any business partners. the Company has 
provided sufficient information on the Group’s anti-corruption principles to all employees. any 
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant 
employees and relevant operation units from time to time. During the year under review, the 
Group organized a seminar conducted by the Independent Commission against Corruption (ICaC) 
to enhance employees’ awareness on anti-corruption legislation and equip employees with the 
necessary skills to handle ethical dilemmas at the workplace.

Workplace Quality

the Group believes that a motivated and balanced workforce is crucial for building a substantial 
business model and delivering long-term returns.

the Group has formulated an employee handbook which clearly sets out company policies and 
procedures, expectations for employees’ conduct and behavior, employees’ rights and benefits. 
We establish and implement policies that promote a harmony and respectful workplace. the Group 
encourages staff of all levels to serve the community and care for those in need. We have participated 
in the “Dress Casual Day” which is the annual charity event organised by the Community Chest. 
Besides, we have made donation and provided surgical masks to Yang Memorial Methodist social 
service in responding to anti-epidemic work. the Group has been awarded the Caring Company logo 
by the Hong Kong Council of social service (HKCss) in 2020 in recognition of our commitment in 
caring for our community, employees and environment over the past year.

the Group believes that people are the valuable assets of an enterprise and commits to attracting and 
retaining talent with diverse backgrounds for achieving sustainable growth. as at 31 December 2020,  
approximately 40% of the staff have been working for the Group for more than five years. service 
awards were presented as tribute to staff members and senior management who have contributed to 
the Group for 5, 10 and 15 years.

the Group provides a fair workplace, promoting non-discrimination and diversity to our staff, 
together with competitive remuneration and benefits, as well as opportunities for career advancement 
based on employees’ merits and performance. It is the policy of the Group to encourage employees 
to attend appropriate courses to keep them abreast of the latest developments in the market and 
industry. they are encouraged to enrol in external job-related seminars and training programmes to 
improve their knowledge and maximise their potentials.

the Group considers employee health and safety as a priority at all times across its business 
operations. the Group follows the Guidelines from the occupational safety and Health Council and 
labour Department which outline relevant measures and tips covering use of equipment, hygiene, 
first aid and fire precaution. During the year under review, the Group arranged free on-site flu 
vaccinations for its employees.
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In view of the CoVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, the Company has implemented several precautionary 
measures in its main office to enhance employees’ hygiene awareness and to minimize their exposure 
to virus in the community as much as possible. During the year, the Company introduced special 
working arrangements including flexible office and lunch hours to avoid crowds during peak hours 
and also allowed staff to work from home if necessary. Health tips, face masks and hand sanitizers 
are also provided to the employees and all of them are required to measure body temperature and 
wear surgical masks upon entering into the office to help them stay healthy and infection-free. 
employees who have symptoms of CoVID-19 such as fever, malaise, dry cough and shortness of 
breath should at once notify the Company, seek medical advice, do a coronavirus test and stay 
home. In addition, employees are encouraged to receive free CoVID-19 testing in response to the 
universal Community testing programme launched by the Government in september 2020 for early 
detection and control virus transmission. office cleaning schedule has been increased to provide a 
safe workplace to the staff.

Crowne plaza has also adopted a wide range of preventive measures to ensure occupational health 
and safety in the hotel premises. anti-epidemic items such as surgical masks, hand sanitizers and 
disinfectant spray are provided to hotel staff to reduce the risks of virus infection. Crowne plaza 
also provided personal protective equipment such as gloves, facial shields and disposable gowns 
to those staff who are carrying out high risk operations. all operational employees are required to 
conduct CoVID-19 testing provided by the hotel. all personnel entering into the hotel premises are 
required to measure body temperature and wear surgical masks to protect them from a possible 
virus infection. In addition, all room guests are required to submit health declaration form and their 
travel history. Crowne plaza has strengthened the frequency of cleaning and disinfection works in its 
ventilation system and public amenities in order to minimize the spread of pandemic.

Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies, compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations and relationships with its key stakeholders which have a significant impact on the 
Group’s operations will be provided in the 2020 environmental, social and Governance report to be 
published on the websites of the stock exchange and the Company by July 2021.

Segmental Analysis of operations

an analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable segments is set out in note 6 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Results

the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss on pages 73 and 74 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income on page 75.

the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2020 is set out in the consolidated statement of 
financial position on pages 76 and 77.

dividends

an interim dividend of HK2 cents per share (2019: HK2 cents) amounting to HK$13.2 million (2019: 
HK$13.2 million) was paid to the shareholders during the year.
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the Board has resolved to recommend for the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2021 aGM 
the payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents (2019: HK3 cents) per share for the year under review, 
amounting to HK$19.3 million (2019: HK$19.9 million) to the shareholders whose names appear 
on the register of members at the close of business on Monday, 7 June 2021. the relevant dividend 
warrants are expected to be despatched on or before Friday, 18 June 2021.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 33 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year 2020 are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 78. the Company’s reserves available for 
distribution to the shareholders as at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contributed surplus 190,081 190,081
retained profits 4,691,180 4,938,184

 4,881,261 5,128,265

under the Companies act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the amount of the contributed surplus 
account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a 
dividend or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if after the payment:

(i) it is or would be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.

Pre-emptive Rights

there are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws and there is no 
restriction against such rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer 
new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

investment Properties

all the investment properties of the Group were revalued at 31 December 2020. the net increase 
in fair value of investment properties amounting to HK$39.1 million (2019: net increase of  
HK$50.4 million) has been credited directly to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in 
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set 
out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties

Details of the properties of the Group held for investment and sale purposes at 31 December 2020 
are set out in the section headed “property portfolio” on pages 7 to 11.

Permitted indemnity Provision

pursuant to the Company’s Bye-law 148, every Director for the time being acting in relation to any 
of the affairs of the Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be indemnified 
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, liabilities, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors 
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted 
in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except 
such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or default respectively. 
During the year under review, the Company had arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
for the Directors.

directors

the Directors who served during the year and up to the date of this annual report were set out 
below.

Executive directors

Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (Chairman)
Mr. lambert lu (Chief Executive)
Mr. Yap shee liam (Chief Financial Officer) (appointed on 1 January 2021)

non-executive directors

Mr. lam sing tai
Mr. lincoln lu

independent non-executive directors

Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally
Mr. leung Hok lim
Mr. Chung pui lam
Mr. Chan Kwok Wai

In accordance with Bye-laws 88(a), 88(B) and 89 of the Company’s Bye-laws and in compliance with 
code provision a.4.2 of the CG Code set out in appendix 14 to the listing rules, Messrs lam sing tai,  
Walujo santoso, Wally and leung Hok lim will retire as Directors by rotation at the 2021 aGM.  
Messrs lam sing tai and leung Hok lim had informed the Board that they will not offer themselves 
for re-election. Mr. Walujo santoso, Wally, being eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the 
2021 aGM.
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pursuant to Bye-law 95 of the Company’s Bye-laws and in compliance with code provision a.4.2 
of the CG Code set out in appendix 14 to the listing rules, any Director appointed by the Board 
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company. Mr. Yap shee liam who was 
appointed as the executive Director and Chief Financial officer by the Board on 1 January 2021 will 
retire and being eligible, has offered himself for re-election at the 2021 aGM.

all other Directors shall continue in office.

directors’ Biographical Particulars

Biographical particulars of the present Directors are set out on pages 19 to 21 of this annual report.

Further particulars of the Directors to be re-elected at the 2021 aGM are set out in the circular to be 
despatched to the shareholders in april 2021.

Update of directors’ information

save as the appointment of Mr. Yap shee liam as the executive Director and Chief Financial officer 
on 1 January 2021, there is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) 
of the listing rules.

directors’ Service Contracts

none of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2021 aGM has a service contract which is 
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of 
compensation other than statutory compensation.

particulars of the emoluments of Directors on a named basis for the year are set out in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

directors’ interests in transactions, Arrangements or Contracts 

of Significance

there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s 
business to which the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries 
was a party and in which a Director or a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Arrangements for directors to Acquire Shares and debentures

at no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow 
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouse or children 
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, 
the Company or any other body corporate.
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directors’ interests in Competing Businesses

pursuant to rule 8.10 of the listing rules, the following Directors and their associates (as defined in 
the listing rules) are considered by the Company to have interests in businesses which compete or 
are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, other than those 
businesses where such Directors have been appointed to represent the interests of the Company 
and/or other members of the Group:

(i) Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse (the Chairman and executive Director) has shareholdings (for himself 
and on behalf of his associates) and holds directorships in a number of private companies 
controlled by, or owned in conjunction with, his close relatives and associates. From time to 
time, such companies are involved in real estate development and investment. In this regard, 
Mr. lu is considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, 
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

(ii) Mr. lambert lu (the executive Director and Chief executive) and Mr. lincoln lu (the non-
executive Director) are the sons of Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse. In this regard, Messrs lambert lu and  
lincoln lu are considered to have interests in the competing businesses in which Mr. lu Wing Chi,  
Jesse is deemed interested. Messrs lambert lu and lincoln lu also have shareholdings 
(for themselves and on behalf of their associates) and hold directorships in certain private 
companies controlled by, or owned in conjunction with, their close relatives and associates. 
From time to time, such companies are involved in real estate development and investment. In 
this regard, Messrs lambert lu and lincoln lu are considered to have interests in businesses 
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the 
Group.

Currently, nearly half of the Board members are IneD whose views carry significant weight in the 
Board’s decisions. Fundamentally, it is independent of the above individuals and the respective 
boards of directors of the above companies in which the relevant directors have personal interests. 
Further, all the Directors are fully aware of, and have been discharging, their fiduciary duty to 
the Company and have acted and will continue to act in the best interest of the Company and the 
shareholders as a whole. therefore, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently 
of, and at arm’s length from, the said competing businesses.

management Contracts

no contracts of significance concerning the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the business of the Company or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries were 
entered into with third parties or subsisted during the year.



DIreCtors’ report

60 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

directors ’ interests and Short Posit ions in Shares and 

Underlying Shares

as at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors in the shares, underlying 
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
part xV of the sFo) as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the sFo, or 
as otherwise notified to the Company and the stock exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as 
follows:

1. long positions in shares of the Company

  number of
  underlying
  shares held
  under equity
 number of ordinary shares held derivatives
  

 Personal Corporate  Personal
 interests interests Family interests  Approximate
 (held as (held by interests (held as  % of interest
 beneficial controlled (interests beneficial total in the issued
name of directors owner) corporations) of spouse) owner) interests share capital

lu Wing Chi, Jesse — 446,392,255 (i) — — 446,392,255 69.51

lambert lu 550,000 338,779,740 (ii) — — 339,329,740 52.84

Yap shee liam (iii) 648,000 — — 350,000 998,000 0.16

lam sing tai 4,493,030 — 7,558 — 4,500,588 0.70

lincoln lu 24,438,162 — — — 24,438,162 3.81

Walujo santoso, Wally 1,680,400 — — — 1,680,400 0.26

leung Hok lim 2,545,574 — — — 2,545,574 0.40

Chung pui lam 894,800 — — — 894,800 0.14

Chan Kwok Wai — — — — — —
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notes:

(i) among these 446,392,255 shares, 107,612,515 shares were held by port lucky, 78,548,387 shares 
were held by ambleside Glory and 260,231,353 shares were held by nlI. port lucky is 100% owned 
by sea Fortune, which in turn is 100% owned by nYH. nYH is 100% owned by Mr. lu Wing Chi, 
Jesse. ambleside Glory is 100% owned by nlI, which in turn is owned by Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse and 
Mr. lambert lu as to 60% and 40% respectively (as disclosed in the section of “long positions in  
shares of associated corporation” below). By virtue of Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse’s interests in nlI,  
port lucky and ambleside Glory, he is deemed to be interested in these shares.

(ii) as disclosed in note (i) above, among these 338,779,740 shares, 78,548,387 shares were held 
by ambleside Glory and 260,231,353 shares were held by nlI. ambleside Glory is 100% owned 
by nlI, which in turn is owned by Mr. lu Wing Chi, Jesse and Mr. lambert lu as to 60% and 40% 
respectively. By virtue of Mr. lambert lu’s interests in nlI and ambleside Glory, he is also deemed 
to be interested in these shares.

(iii) Mr. Yap shee liam was appointed as the executive Director and Chief Financial officer on 1 January 2021.

(iv) the total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020 was 642,238,726 
shares.

2. long positions in shares of associated corporation

 number of ordinary shares held
 

  Personal Corporate
  interests interests Family  Approximate
name of  (held as (held by interests  % of interest
associated name of beneficial controlled (interests total in the issued
corporation directors owner) corporation) of spouse) interests share capital

nlI lu Wing Chi, Jesse 93,876 — — 93,876 60.00

 lambert lu 62,584 — — 62,584 40.00

saved as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors had any interests or short 
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of part xV of the sFo) which were required to be recorded in the 
register kept by the Company under section 352 of the sFo or which were required to be notified to 
the Company and the stock exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and other Persons’ interests and 

Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

as at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the following substantial shareholders 
and other persons (other than Directors) had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying 
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the sFo:

long positions in shares of the Company

 number of ordinary shares
 

    Approximate % of
name of Held as Held by controlled  interest in the
Shareholders beneficial owner corporations total interests issued share capital

nlI 260,231,353 78,548,387 (i) 338,779,740 52.75

ambleside Glory 78,548,387 — 78,548,387 12.23

nYH — 107,612,515 (ii) 107,612,515 16.76

sea Fortune — 107,612,515 (ii) 107,612,515 16.76

port lucky 107,612,515 — 107,612,515 16.76

notes:

(i) nlI holds 100% of the issued share capital of ambleside Glory. the above 78,548,387 shares held by 
ambleside Glory are also deemed to be interest of nlI and such shares are, therefore, duplicated between 
these shareholders for the purpose of the sFo.

(ii) nYH holds 100% of the issued share capital of sea Fortune, which holds 100% of the issued share capital 
of port lucky. the above 107,612,515 shares held by port lucky are also deemed to be interest of sea 
Fortune and nYH and such shares are, therefore, duplicated between these shareholders for the purpose 
of the sFo.

(iii) Messrs lu Wing Chi, Jesse and lambert lu, both being Directors, are also directors of nlI and ambleside 
Glory.

(iv) Messrs lu Wing Chi, Jesse, lambert lu and lincoln lu, all being Directors, are also directors of nYH,  
sea Fortune and port lucky.

(v) the total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020 was 642,238,726 shares.

saved as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2020, none of the substantial shareholders and other 
persons (other than Directors) had any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares 
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the sFo.
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Share option Scheme

the Company adopted the 2015 share option scheme on 29 May 2015. a summary of the principal 
terms of the 2015 share option scheme is set out below:

1. purpose: to provide a flexible means to recognise and acknowledge 
the performance and/or contribution of the el igible 
participants (as defined under the 2015 share option 
scheme).

2. participants: eligible participants include any (i) director or employee 
of the Company or any of its affiliate; (ii) representative, 
manager, agent, contractor, advisor, consultant, distributor 
or supplier engaged by the Company or any of its affiliate; 
(iii) customer, promoter, business ally or joint-venture 
partner of the Company or any of its affiliate; or (iv) trustee 
of any trust established for the benefit of employees of the 
Company or any of its affiliate.

3. t o t a l  n u m b e r  o f  s h a r e s 
available for issue under the 
2015 share option scheme 
and percentage of the issued 
share capital that it represents 
as at the date of this annual 
report:

the maximum number of shares which could be issued 
upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted under 
the 2015 share option scheme was 69,186,772 shares 
(the “scheme Mandate limit”), representing approximately  
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at 29 May 2015,  
the date on which an ordinary resolution was passed 
by the shareholders of the Company to approve the  
2015 share option scheme.

as at 26 March 2021, a total of 55,806,772 shares 
(excluding the underlying shares comprised in share 
options that have been granted but not yet lapsed, 
cancelled or exercised) were available for issue under the  
2 0 1 5 s h a r e o p t i o n s c h e m e , w h i c h r e p r e s e n t e d 
approximately 8.69% of the issued share capital of the 
Company on that date.

4. Maximum entitlement of each 
participant:

unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total 
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise 
of the share options already granted or to be granted to 
each eligible participant (including both exercised and 
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not 
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company then in issue.

In addition, for any grant of share options to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the 
Company or any of their respective associates would result 
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all 
options already granted or to be granted (including options 
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in any 
12-month period exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company 
then in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of 
HK$5 million, then the proposed grant is also subject to 
the approval of shareholders of the Company in general 
meeting.
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5. period within which the shares 
must be taken up under an 
option:

the period during which an option may be exercised is 
determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that 
no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has 
been granted.

6. Minimum period for which an 
option must be held before it 
can vest:

as determined by the Board.

7. amount payable on acceptance 
of an option and the period 
within which payments shall 
be made:

HK$10 is payable to the Company upon acceptance of the 
option which must be taken up within 28 days from the 
date of offer.

8. B a s i s o f d e t e r m i n i n g t h e 
exercise price:

the exercise price is determined by the Board which must 
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the share of 
the Company on the stock exchange on the date of grant of 
the option; (ii) the average of the closing price of the share 
of the Company on the stock exchange for the five business 
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; 
and (iii) the nominal value of the share of the Company.

9. remaining l ife of the 2015 
share option scheme:

Valid and effective for a term of ten years from the date of 
adoption until 28 May 2025.

the following table shows the movements in share options under the 2015 share option scheme 
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and the options outstanding at the beginning and end of 
the year:

 number of underlying shares
 comprised in share options
  Exercise   lapsed
 date of price  As at during As at
name grant per share Exercise period 01.01.2020 the year 31.12.2020
  (HK$)

Eligible employees 02.07.2015 6.302 01.07.2018 to 30.06.2020 270,000 (270,000) —
 in aggregate 22.01.2018 12.800 01.01.2019 to 31.12.2020 275,000 (100,000) 175,000
   01.07.2019 to 30.06.2021 275,000 (75,000) 200,000
   01.01.2020 to 31.12.2021 500,000 — 500,000
   01.07.2020 to 30.06.2022 225,000 — 225,000
   01.01.2021 to 31.12.2022 1,300,000 (325,000) 975,000
   01.07.2021 to 30.06.2023 1,225,000 (200,000) 1,025,000

total    4,070,000 (970,000) 3,100,000
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notes:

(i) the vesting period of the share options granted is from the date of grant until the commencement of the 
exercisable period.

(ii) no share options had been granted, exercised or cancelled under the 2015 share option scheme for the 
year ended 31 December 2020.

Share Award Scheme

the share award scheme was approved by the shareholders at the sGM held on 27 May 2010. 
the share award scheme commenced on 15 June 2010 and will continue in force until the day 
immediately before the fifteenth anniversary of such date.

the purpose of the share award scheme is to provide a flexible means to recognise and acknowledge 
the performance and/or contribution of the eligible participants. under the share award scheme, 
the Board (or any committee delegated by the Board) may at its absolute discretion grant awards, 
which may comprise (a) new shares of the Company; (b) existing shares of the Company in issue and 
are listed on the stock exchange; (c) cash in lieu of the shares of the Company; or (d) a combination 
of (a), (b) and (c), to any eligible participants as it thinks fit and appropriate and subject to the 
terms and conditions of the share award scheme. no award may be granted under the share award 
scheme if the aggregate number of shares which may be issued and/or transferred upon vesting of 
all outstanding awards granted under the share award scheme and any other share award scheme 
of the Company and which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet 
to be exercised under any share option scheme of the Company exceed 30% of the shares of the 
Company in issue from time to time.

no award was granted by the Company under the share award scheme during the year ended  
31 December 2020.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s listed Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company repurchased a total of 20,050,000 shares 
on the stock exchange at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$194,171,783 (excluding expenses). 
all the purchased shares were then cancelled and the number of issued shares of the Company was 
reduced accordingly. particulars of the repurchases are as follows:

 total number
Period of of shares Price paid per share Aggregate
  

repurchase repurchased Highest lowest consideration
  HK$ HK$ HK$

september 2020 10,446,000 10.00 9.00 101,712,939

october 2020 9,604,000 9.90 7.28 92,458,844
    

 20,050,000   194,171,783
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the Directors considered that the aforesaid shares were repurchased at a discount to the underlying 
fair value per share and such purchases resulted in an increase in the net asset value and earnings of 
every remaining share of the Company.

apart from the above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2020.

major Customers and major Suppliers

During the year, the revenue and aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer 
and five largest customers accounted for approximately 17% and 33% of the Group’s total revenue 
respectively.

the aggregate purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less 
than 30% of the total purchases of the Group for the year.

at no time during the year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a shareholder (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in 
any of the Group’s five largest customers.

Related Party transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business are set 
out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements. all such related party transactions are fully 
exempt connected transactions under Chapter 14a of the listing rules.

Corporate governance

the Company is committed to maintain high corporate governance standards so as to ensure better 
transparency and protection of shareholders’ interests. Information on the corporate governance 
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance report” 
on pages 35 to 51.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of 
the Directors, at least 25% of the issued shares in the Company was held by the public (i.e. the 
prescribed public float applicable to the Company under the listing rules) during the year and up to 
the date of this annual report.

Charitable donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to about HK$29,000 (2019: 
HK$109,000).
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Five-Year Financial Summary

a summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out 
in the section headed “Financial Highlights” on pages 22 and 23.

Review by Audit Committee

the audit Committee comprises four members, namely Messrs leung Hok lim, Walujo santoso, 
Wally, Chung pui lam and Chan Kwok Wai, all being IneD. the audit Committee has reviewed with 
the management the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2020.

independent Auditor

the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year under review have been audited 
by Deloitte, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. approved 
by the Board upon the audit Committee’s recommendation, a resolution to re-appoint Deloitte 
as independent auditor of the Company for the ensuing year will be put to the 2021 aGM for the 
shareholders’ approval.

on behalf of the Board

lu Wing Chi, Jesse
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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to the Shareholders of S E A Holdings limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of s e a Holdings limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 73 to 166, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
reporting standards (“HKFrss”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified public accountants 
(“HKICpa”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong 
Kong Companies ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong standards on auditing (“HKsas”) issued 
by the HKICpa. our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the Consolidated Financial statements section of our report. We 
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICpa’s Code of ethics for professional 
accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. these matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment 
propert ies as a key audi t matter as the 
valuation is subject to management estimate 
and has a significant impact on the financial 
result and financial position of the Group.

as disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated 
f inancial statements, the carrying value 
of the investment properties amounted to 
HK$7,338,649,000 as at 31 December 2020 
and the increase in fair value of the investment 
properties recorded in the profit for the 
year was HK$39,067,000. In estimating the 
fair value of investment properties, it is the 
Group’s policy to engage independent qualified 
professional valuers (the “Valuers”) to perform 
the valuation.

the Valuers have determined the fair value of 
the Group’s investment properties by the use 
of different valuation methodologies, and key 
inputs such as: (i) capitalisation rate under 
income capitalisation approach; (ii) discount 
rate under discounted cash flow analysis; and 
(iii) adjusting factors such as location, size, 
age and maintenance under direct comparison 
approach.

our procedures in relation to the valuation of 
investment properties included:

•	 Evaluating	the	competence,	capabilities	and	
objectivity of the Valuers;

•	 Obtaining	an	understanding	of	the	valuation	
process and significant assumptions to 
assess if the methodologies meet relevant 
accounting requirements and industry 
norms;

•	 Obta in ing	 the	 va lua t ion	 repor t s	 and	
interviewing with the Valuers to assess 
the reasonableness of the key inputs 
used by the Valuers by comparing them 
to comparable market transactions and 
other publicly available information of the 
property market; and

•	 Assessing	 the	 completeness	 and	 accuracy	
of information provided by the Group to the 
Valuers.
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other information

the directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. the other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibi l i t ies of directors and those Charged with 

governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

the directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFrss issued by the HKICpa and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible 
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the 
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 

Financial Statements

our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with 
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKsas will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

as part of an audit in accordance with HKsas, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

the engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is tan Wei Ming.

deloitte touche tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
26 March 2021
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF proFIt or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 notes HK$’000 HK$’000

revenue 7
 — renting of investment properties  212,934 200,055
 — Hotel operation  44,769 192,318
 — return from financial investment
   — Interest income and others  345,246 424,056

total revenue  602,949 816,429
other income 8 10,467 7,023
Costs:
 property and related costs 9 (5,227) (4,036)
 staff costs  (77,752) (115,816)
 Depreciation and amortisation  (36,908) (39,337)
 other expenses 10 (52,237) (96,010)

  (172,124) (255,199)

profit before fair value changes
 on investment properties, impairment loss
 and other gains and losses  441,292 568,253
Fair value changes on investment properties  39,067 50,408

profit after fair value changes on investment
 properties  480,359 618,661
other gains and losses 11 (29,897) 8,978
Impairment loss recognised on a listed debt
 instrument at fair value through other
 comprehensive income  — (10,033)
share of result of a joint venture  (61) (53)
Finance costs 12 (273,679) (420,047)

profit before taxation 13 176,722 197,506
Income tax expense 14 (25,754) (24,388)

profit for the year  150,968 173,118
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF proFIt or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 note HK$’000 HK$’000

profit for the year attributable
 to the Company’s shareholders  150,968 173,118

  HK cents HK cents
earnings per share for profit attributable to the
 Company’s shareholders
 — Basic  23.0 26.1

 — Diluted  23.0 26.1

earnings per share excluding fair value changes
 on investment properties net of deferred tax 18
 — Basic  17.2 20.3

 — Diluted  17.2 20.3
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF proFIt or 
loss anD otHer CoMpreHensIVe InCoMe
For the year ended 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 note HK$’000 HK$’000

profit for the year  150,968 173,118

other comprehensive income (expense):
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to
 profit or loss:
 Fair value gain on equity instruments at fair value
  through other comprehensive income  668 —

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
 profit or loss:
 Fair value (loss) gain on debt instruments at
  fair value through other comprehensive income  (35,601) 43,769
 reclassification to profit or loss upon disposal
  of debt instruments at fair value through
  other comprehensive income  24,000 —
 exchange differences arising on translation of
  foreign operations  76,963 43,009
 Impairment loss recognised on a listed debt
  instrument at fair value through other
  comprehensive income 20 — 10,033

other comprehensive income for the year  66,030 96,811

total comprehensive income for the year attributable
 to the Company’s shareholders  216,998 269,929



76 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

ConsolIDateD stateMent oF  
FInanCIal posItIon
at 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 notes HK$’000 HK$’000

non-current assets
Investment properties 19 7,338,649 7,313,892
property, plant and equipment 21 615,936 650,003
Investment in a joint venture 22 1,169,992 1,114,627
equity instruments at fair value through other
 comprehensive income 23 431,485 —
Debt instruments at fair value through other
 comprehensive income 24 3,073,053 3,153,121
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25 20,874 280,325
pledged bank deposits 27 — 16,512
other assets 26 6,839 6,899

  12,656,828 12,535,379

Current assets
Inventories  941 1,020
Debt instruments at fair value through other
 comprehensive income 24 806,575 2,447,346
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25 80,309 —
trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 28 32,794 44,468
tax recoverable  7 1
pledged bank deposits 27 29,768 482,525
Bank balances and cash 27 3,354,456 5,027,037

  4,304,850 8,002,397

Current liabilities
payables, rental deposits and accrued charges 29 153,344 226,980
tax liabilities  28,123 23,860
lease liabilities 32 12,901 10,323
Guaranteed notes 31 — 1,557,139
Bank borrowings — due within one year 30 3,511,586 5,765,168

  3,705,954 7,583,470

net current assets  598,896 418,927

total assets less current liabilities  13,255,724 12,954,306
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF  
FInanCIal posItIon
at 31 December 2020

  2020 2019
 notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves
share capital 33 64,224 66,229
reserves  6,176,381 6,184,158

total equity  6,240,605 6,250,387

non-current liabilities
lease liabilities 32 190,911 197,580
Bank borrowings — due after one year 30 5,611,388 5,294,791
Guaranteed notes 31 1,158,222 1,161,220
Deferred taxation 34 54,598 50,328

  7,015,119 6,703,919

total equity and non-current liabilities  13,255,724 12,954,306

the consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 166 were approved and authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on 26 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

  
 lU Wing CHi, JESSE lAmBERt lU
 CHAIRMAN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
 AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF  
CHanGes In eQuItY
For the year ended 31 December 2020

 Attributable to the Company’s shareholders
 

     Capital Share investment    non-
 Share Share Contributed translation redemption option revaluation other Retained  controlling
 capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Sub-total interests total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
   (note i)     (note ii)

at 1 January 2019 66,206 19,068 277,707 (7,887) 4,451 2,390 (55,258) 20,159 5,684,718 6,011,554 4 6,011,558

profit for the year — — — — — — — — 173,118 173,118 — 173,118

exchange differences arising 
 on translation of foreign 
 operations — — — 43,009 — — — — — 43,009 — 43,009
Fair value gain on debt instruments 
 at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income — — — — — — 43,769 — — 43,769 — 43,769
Impairment loss recognised on 
 a listed debt instrument 
 at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income — — — — — — 10,033 — — 10,033 — 10,033

other comprehensive income 
 for the year — — — 43,009 — — 53,802 — — 96,811 — 96,811

total comprehensive income 
 for the year — — — 43,009 — — 53,802 — 173,118 269,929 — 269,929
recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payments
 — share options (note 41) — — — — — 565 — — — 565 — 565
shares issued upon exercise of 
 share options 23 1,677 — — — (251) — — — 1,449 — 1,449
Dissolution of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — (4) (4)
Dividends paid (note 17) — — — — — — — — (33,110) (33,110) — (33,110)

at 31 December 2019 66,229 20,745 277,707 35,122 4,451 2,704 (1,456) 20,159 5,824,726 6,250,387 — 6,250,387

profit for the year — — — — — — — — 150,968 150,968 — 150,968

exchange differences arising on 
 translation of foreign operations — — — 76,963 — — — — — 76,963 — 76,963
Fair value loss on debt instruments 
 at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income — — — — — — (35,601) — — (35,601) — (35,601)
Fair value gain on equity instruments 
 at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income — — — — — — 668 — — 668 — 668
reclassification to profit or loss 
 upon disposal of debt instruments 
 at fair value through other 
 comprehensive income — — — — — — 24,000 — — 24,000 — 24,000

other comprehensive income 
 (expense) for the year — — — 76,963 — — (10,933) — — 66,030 — 66,030

total comprehensive income 
 (expense) for the year — — — 76,963 — — (10,933) — 150,968 216,998 — 216,998
recognition of equity-settled 
 share based payments
 — share options (note 41) — — — — — 464 — — — 464 — 464
lapse of share options — — — — — (831) — — 831 — — —
shares repurchased and cancelled (2,005) (192,167) — — — — — — — (194,172) — (194,172)
transfer of excess share premium 
 to retained profits — 171,422 — — — — — — (171,422) — — —
Dividends paid (note 17) — — — — — — — — (33,072) (33,072) — (33,072)

At 31 december 2020 64,224 — 277,707 112,085 4,451 2,337 (12,389) 20,159 5,772,031 6,240,605 — 6,240,605

notes:

(i) Contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries 
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition pursuant to the Group 
reorganisation in previous years.

(ii) other reserves represent the excess of the consideration paid for acquisition of additional interest in 
subsidiaries from non-controlling interests over the carrying amount of non-controlling interests.
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ConsolIDateD stateMent oF CasH FloWs
For the year ended 31 December 2020

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

operating activities
profit before taxation 176,722 197,506
adjustments for:
 Interest expense 273,679 420,047
 Depreciation and amortisation 36,908 39,337
 Fair value changes on investment properties (39,067) (50,408)
 Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss (1,014) (31,334)
 loss on disposal of debt instruments at fair value
  through other comprehensive income 24,000 —
 loss on early redemption of debt instruments 
  at fair value through other comprehensive income — 2,335
 Impairment loss recognised on a listed debt instrument
  at fair value through other comprehensive income — 10,033
 Gain on disposal of an investment property — (6,375)
 share of result of a joint venture 61 53
 Interest income (345,248) (424,391)
 Dividend from equity investments (224) —
 (Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) 20
 equity-settled share-based payment expenses 464 565
 net exchange losses 6,911 26,396

operating cash flows before movements in working capital 133,182 183,784
Decrease (increase) in inventories 79 (105)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables, deposits
 and prepayments 7,871 (12,038)
(Decrease) increase in payables, rental deposits 
 and accrued charges (36,854) 20,635

Cash generated from operations 104,278 192,276
Interest received from financial investment 377,357 453,048
Dividend received 224 —
tax paid (21,309) (14,139)
tax refunded 4 1

net cash from operating activities 460,554 631,186
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  2020 2019
 note HK$’000 HK$’000

investing activities
Interest received from bank deposits  226 335
placement of pledged bank deposits  (12,255) (2,250)
release of pledged bank deposits  479,759 1,102,267
redemption of debt instruments at fair value
 through other comprehensive income  3,251,110 1,625,956
redemption of financial assets at fair value
 through profit or loss  184,379 84,775
purchase of property, plant and equipment  (2,781) (3,173)
purchase of club membership  — (180)
additions to investment properties  (12,433) (979,680)
proceeds from disposal of an investment property  — 71,626
proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary 37 196,565 —
proceeds from disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment  10 20
purchase of debt instruments at fair value
 through other comprehensive income  (1,617,000) (2,839,945)
purchase of equity instruments at fair value 
 through other comprehensive income  (430,817) —
purchase of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss  (5,374) —
advances to a joint venture in form of loan  (55,426) (64,220)

net cash from (used in) investing activities  1,975,963 (1,004,469)

Financing activities
Drawdown of bank borrowings  2,370,569 3,262,024
repayments of bank borrowings  (4,370,164) (3,265,364)
repayment of lease liabilities  (10,323) (11,864)
repayment of guaranteed notes  (1,554,060) —
payment of bank borrowings front-end fee  (10,028) (18,113)
Issue of new ordinary shares  — 1,449
repurchase of ordinary shares  (194,172) —
Interest paid  (296,569) (398,904)
Dividends paid  (33,057) (33,102)

net cash used in financing activities  (4,097,804) (463,874)

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,661,287) (837,157)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  5,027,037 5,870,023
effect of foreign exchange rate changes  (11,294) (5,829)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
 represented by bank balances and cash  3,354,456 5,027,037
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1. gEnERAl

s e a Holdings limited (the “Company”) is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda with 
limited liability and its shares are listed on the stock exchange of Hong Kong limited (the ‘’stock 
exchange’’). nan luen International limited, an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda 
with limited liability, is the immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company. the 
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed 
in the directory of the annual report.

the Company acts as an investment holding company. the principal activities of its subsidiaries 
and a joint venture are set out in notes 45 and 22 respectively.

the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also 
the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPliCAtion oF AmEndmEntS to Hong Kong FinAnCiAl 
REPoRting StAndARdS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to HKFrss issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified public accountants (“HKICpa”) for the first time, which are 
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

amendments to HKas 1 Definition of Material
 and HKas 8
amendments to HKFrs 3 Definition of a Business
amendments to HKFrs 9, Interest rate Benchmark reform
 HKas 39 and HKFrs 7

except as described below, the application of the Amendments to References to the Conceptual 
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFrss in the current year had no 
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior 
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 definition of 
material

the Group has applied the amendments to HKas 1 and HKas 8 for the first time in the current 
year. the amendments provide a new definition of material that states “information is material 
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those 
financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” the 
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of information, 
either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial 
statements taken as a whole.

the application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.
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2. APPliCAtion oF AmEndmEntS to Hong Kong FinAnCiAl 
REPoRting StAndARdS (“HKFRSs”) — continued

new and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

the Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFrss that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFrs 17 Insurance Contracts and the related amendments1

amendment to HKFrs 16 CoVID-19-related rent Concessions4

amendments to HKFrs 3 reference to the Conceptual Framework2

amendments to HKFrs 9, Interest rate Benchmark reform — phase 25

 HKas 39, HKFrs 7,
 HKFrs 4 and HKFrs 16
amendments to HKFrs 10 sale or Contribution of assets between an Investor
 and HKas 28  and its associate or Joint Venture3

amendments to HKas 1 Classification of liabilities as Current or non-current and 
  related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)1

amendments to HKas 16 property, plant and equipment — proceeds before 
  Intended use2

amendments to HKas 37 onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

amendments to HKFrss annual Improvements to HKFrss 2018-20202

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
5 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

except for the new and amendments to HKFrss mentioned below, the Directors anticipate that 
the application of all other new and amendments to HKFrss will have no material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 CoVid-19-Related Rent Concessions

the amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

the amendment introduces a new practical expedient for lessees to elect not to assess whether 
a CoVID-19-related rent concession is a lease modification. the practical expedient only applies 
to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the CoVID-19 that meets all of the 
following conditions:

•	 the	 change	 in	 lease	 payments	 results	 in	 revised	 consideration	 for	 the	 lease	 that	 is	
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 
preceding the change;

•	 any	 reduction	 in	 lease	 payments	 affects	 only	 payments	 originally	 due	 on	 or	 before	 30	
June 2021; and

•	 there	is	no	substantive	change	to	other	terms	and	conditions	of	the	lease.



83S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2. APPliCAtion oF AmEndmEntS to Hong Kong FinAnCiAl 
REPoRting StAndARdS (“HKFRSs”) — continued

new and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective — continued

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions — continued

a lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting 
from rent concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFrs 16 
Leases if the changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are 
accounted for as variable lease payments. the related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the 
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in 
the period in which the event occurs.

the application is not expected to have impact on the Group’s financial position and 
performance as the Group does not intend to apply the practical expedient.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

the amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to 
defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current, which:

•	 specify	 that	 the	 classification	 of	 liabilities	 as	 current	 or	 non-current	 should	 be	 based	
on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period. specifically, the 
amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations 
to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the 
conditions are met at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not 
test compliance until a later date; and

•	 clarify	that	 if	a	 liability	has	terms	that	could,	at	the	option	of	the	counterparty,	result	 in	
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not 
affect its classification as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option 
separately as an equity instrument applying HKas 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the amendments to 
HKas 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020, the application of the 
amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFrss 
issued by the HKICpa. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include 
applicable disclosures required by the rules Governing the listing of securities on the 
stock exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies ordinance.

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for certain properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair values at 
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange 
for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group 
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants 
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFrs 2 Share-based Payment, leasing 
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFrs 16, and measurements that 
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 
HKas 2 Inventories or value in use in HKas 36 Impairment of Assets.

a fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best 
use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value 
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in 
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the 
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements — continued

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into 
level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements 
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	 inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	 in	active	markets	for	 identical	assets	
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

•	 has	power	over	the	investee;

•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	
and

•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.

the Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed 
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary 
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. specifically, income and 
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the 
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Basis of consolidation — continued

profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

all intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary 
and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. a gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair 
value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) 
the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the Company. all amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group 
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified 
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by 
applicable HKFrss).

investment in a joint venture

a joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of 
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

investment in a joint venture — continued

the results and assets and liabilities of the joint venture are incorporated in these 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. the financial 
statements of the joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using 
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances. under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is 
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted 
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture other than profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes 
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of 
losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the 
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. additional 
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

an investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date 
on which the investee becomes a joint venture. on acquisition of the investment in a joint 
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, 
which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost 
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the 
period in which the investment is acquired.

the Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in a joint 
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount 
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKas 
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. any impairment loss recognised 
is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance 
with HKas 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses 
resulting from the transactions with the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interest in the joint venture that 
are not related to the Group.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Revenue from contracts with customers

the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation 
is transferred to the customer.

a performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) 
that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of 
the following criteria is met:

•	 the	 customer	 simultaneously	 receives	 and	 consumes	 the	 benefits	 provided	 by	 the	
Group’s performance as the Group performs;

•	 the	Group’s	performance	creates	or	enhances	an	asset	that	the	customer	controls	as	
the Group performs; or

•	 the	 Group’s	 performance	 does	 not	 create	 an	 asset	with	 an	 alternative	 use	 to	
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date.

otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of 
the distinct good or service.

Hotel room revenue is recognised over time by using output method; while revenue from 
food and beverage sales and ancillary services are recognised at point in time.

over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete 
satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured 
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of direct 
measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date 
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depict 
the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.

as a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in an amount that 
corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s performance completed to date (i.e. 
hotel room revenue in which the Group bills a fixed amount for each day of the room 
provided), the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the Group has the right 
to invoice.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable 
expenditure. subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at 
their fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are 
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are capitalised 
as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties under construction.

an investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property 
is permanently withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are expected from its 
disposal. a leasehold land under head lease which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is 
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease. 
any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that held for use in the supply of 
services, or for administrative purpose. property, plant and equipment other than 
crockery, utensils and linen are stated in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes 
both leasehold land and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between 
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at 
initial recognition. to the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made 
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented 
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position except for 
those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value 
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building 
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are 
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than crockery, 
utensils and linen, less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method. the estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Property, plant and equipment — continued

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

intangible asset — club membership

intangible asset — club membership acquired separately

the club membership with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried 
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
amortisation for intangible assets-club membership with finite useful lives is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. the estimated useful life and 
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

an intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of a 
club membership measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognised.

impairment on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

at the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine 
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

the recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets are 
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates assets are allocated to 
individual cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. the 
Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or 
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared 
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating 
units.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

impairment on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets — continued

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets 
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, 
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including 
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to 
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first 
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets 
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of 
cash-generating units. the carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest 
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and 
zero. the amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the 
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating 
units. an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating 
units) in prior years. a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

inventories

Inventories comprising food and beverage are stated at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average method. net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated 
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. all regular way purchases or sales 
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade 
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are measured in accordance with 
HKFrs 15. transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVtpl”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVtpl are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the 
relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business is 
presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost:

•	 the	 financial	 asset	 is	 held	within	 a	 business	model	whose	 objective	 is	 to	 collect	
contractual cash flows; and

•	 the	 contractual	 terms	 give	 rise	 on	 specified	 dates	 to	 cash	 flows	 that	 are	 solely	
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (“FVtoCI”):

•	 the	 financial	asset	 is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	 is	achieved	by	
both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

•	 the	 contractual	 terms	 give	 rise	 on	 specified	 dates	 to	 cash	 flows	 that	 are	 solely	
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets  — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets — continued

all other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVtpl, except that at initial 
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income (“oCI”) if 
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised 
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFrs 3 Business Combinations 
applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be 
measured at the amortised cost or FVtoCI as measured at FVtpl if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently 
measured at FVtoCI. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets 
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets 
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset 
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial 
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest 
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following 
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(ii) Debt instruments classified as FVtoCI

subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments classified as 
FVtoCI as a result of interest income calculated using the effective interest method, 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. all other 
changes in the carrying amount of these debt instruments are recognised in oCI 
and accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve. Impairment 
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to oCI 
without reducing the carrying amounts of these debt instruments. When these debt 
instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised 
in oCI are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets — continued

(iii) equity instruments designated as at FVtoCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVtoCI are subsequently measured at fair 
value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; 
and are not subject to impairment assessment. the cumulative gain or loss will not 
be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be 
transferred to retained profits.

Dividend from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit 
or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless 
the dividend clearly represent a recovery of a part of the cost of the investment. 
Dividends are included in the “revenue” line item in profit or loss.

(iv) Financial assets at FVtpl

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost 
or FVtoCI or designated as FVtoCI are measured at FVtpl.

Financial assets at FVtpl are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. the net gain 
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment allowance in respect of financial assets and financial guarantee contract

the Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss model (“eCl”) on 
financial assets (including trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits, 
bank balances, debt instruments at FVtoCI), loan to a joint venture and financial 
guarantee contract which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFrs 9. the 
amount of eCl is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition.

lifetime eCl represents the eCl that will result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month eCl (“12m eCl”) represents 
the portion of lifetime eCl that is expected to result from default events that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date. assessment are done based on the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the 
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

the Group always recognises lifetime eCl for trade receivables. the eCl on these assets 
are assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m eCl, 
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which 
case the Group recognises lifetime eCl. the assessment of whether lifetime eCl should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring 
since initial recognition.

(i) significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable 
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment allowance in respect of financial assets and financial guarantee contract  
— continued

(i) significant increase in credit risk — continued

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing 
whether credit risk has increased significantly:

•	 an	 actual	 or	 expected	 significant	 deterioration	 in	 the	 financial	 instrument’s	
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

•	 significant	 deterioration	 in	 external	market	 indicators	 of	 credit	 risk,	 e.g.	 a	
significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the 
debtor;

•	 existing	 or	 forecast	 adverse	 changes	 in	 business,	 financial	 or	 economic	
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s 
ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	deterioration	 in	 the	operating	results	of	 the	
debtor;

•	 an	actual	or	expected	significant	adverse	change	in	the	regulatory,	economic,	
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant 
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the 
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment allowance in respect of financial assets and financial guarantee contract  
— continued

(i) significant increase in credit risk — continued

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. a debt instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower 
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer 
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its 
contractual cash flow obligations. the Group considers a debt instrument to have 
low credit risk which has either investment grades or issued by a large institution.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the 
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the 
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the 
contract.

the Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase 
in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs 
when information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates 
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without 
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a 
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is 
more appropriate.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment allowance in respect of financial assets and financial guarantee contract  
— continued

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

a financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the 
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating 
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a 
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 
financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

the Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation 
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 
when the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. a write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. any subsequent recoveries are recognised in 
profit or loss.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Impairment allowance in respect of financial assets and financial guarantee contract  
— continued

(v) Measurement and recognition of eCl

the measurement of eCl is a function of the probability of default, loss given 
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at 
default. the assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is 
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. estimation of eCl 
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the 
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the eCl is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due 
to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial 
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in 
the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument 
that is guaranteed. accordingly, the eCl is the present value of the expected 
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts 
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For eCl on financial guarantee contract for which the effective interest rate cannot 
be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are specific to the 
cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by 
adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is 
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVtoCI and the 
financial guarantee contract, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss 
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, 
with the exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account. For investments in debt instruments 
that are measured at FVtoCI, the loss allowance is recognised in oCI and 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying 
amount of these debt instruments. such amount represents the changes in the 
investment revaluation reserve in relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial assets — continued

Derecognition of financial assets

the Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

on derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.

on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVtoCI, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected 
on initial recognition to measure at FVtoCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but 
is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an 
entity after deducting all of its liabilities. equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly 
in equity.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bank borrowings, and guaranteed 
notes are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Financial instruments — continued

Financial liabilities and equity — continued

Financial guarantee contract

a financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial 
guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently 
measured at the higher of:

•	 the	amount	of	the	loss	allowance	determined	in	accordance	with	HKFRS	9;	and

•	 the	 amount	 initially	 recognised	 less,	where	 appropriate,	 cumulative	 amortisation	
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

the Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. the difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised 
in profit or loss.

offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

a financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

leases

definition of a lease

a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising 
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease 
based on the definition under HKFrs 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition 
date, as appropriate. such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions 
of the contract are subsequently changed.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

leases — continued

the group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets

the cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the	amount	of	the	initial	measurement	of	the	lease	liability;	and

•	 any	 lease	 payments	made	 at	 or	 before	 the	 commencement	 date,	 less	 any	 lease	
incentives received.

except for those that are classified as investment properties and measured under fair 
value model, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term.

the Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in “property, plant and equipment”, the same line item within which the 
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. right-of-use 
assets that meet the definition of investment property are presented within “investment 
properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFrs 9 and initially measured at 
fair value.

Lease liabilities

at the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease 
liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating 
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

the lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less 
any lease incentives receivable.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in 
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

after the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by changes in interest and 
lease payments.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

leases — continued

the group as a lessee — continued

Lease liabilities — continued

the Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the 
related right-of-use assets) whenever:

•	 the	lease	term	has	changed	in	which	case	the	related	lease	liability	is	remeasured	by	
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of 
reassessment.

•	 the	lease	payments	change	due	to	changes	in	market	rental	rates	following	a	market	
rent review in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

the Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

Lease modifications

the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the	modification	increases	the	scope	of	the	lease	by	adding	the	right	to	use	one	or	
more underlying assets; and

•	 the	 consideration	 for	 the	 leases	 increases	 by	 an	 amount	 commensurate	with	 the	
stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that 
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group 
remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date 
of the modification.

the Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding 
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a 
lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis 
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

leases — continued

the group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. 
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 
lease. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, such 
costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except 
for investment properties measured under fair value method. Variable lease payments 
for operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are based on the market or rate 
at commencement date of the lease and included in the total lease payments to be 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do 
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business is presented 
as revenue.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease 
as two separate contracts. the sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by 
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the 
underlying asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

all other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods 
in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are 
intended to compensate.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

government grants — continued

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses 
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the 
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they become receivable. such grants are presented under “other income”.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in 
currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are 
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. at 
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the 
date when the fair value was determined. non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the 
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and 
liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into the presentation currency of 
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each 
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, 
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. 
exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

on the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in 
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes 
a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement that includes 
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the 
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to 
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options/share awards granted to employees

equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the grant date.

the fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant 
date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of 
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity 
(share option reserve/share award reserve). at the end of each reporting period, 
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest 
based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. the impact of the 
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to 
the share option reserve/share award reserve. For share options/share awards that vest 
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options/share awards granted 
is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option 
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after 
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously 
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs

payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense 
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. all short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFrs requires or 
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

a liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, 
annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.



107S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

the tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. taxable profit differs 
from profit before taxation because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. the Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with 
investments in subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except where the Group is able 
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interest are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected 
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. BASiS oF PREPARAtion oF ConSolidAtEd FinAnCiAl 
StAtEmEntS And SigniFiCAnt ACCoUnting PoliCiES — continued

3.2 Significant accounting policies — continued

taxation — continued

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured 
using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be 
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. the presumption is 
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model 
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the 
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group 
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first 
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the 
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, 
the Group applies HKas 12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as 
a whole. temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are 
assessed on a net basis. excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease 
payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities results in net deductible temporary 
differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income 
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items 
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively.

4. CRitiCAl ACCoUnting JUdgEmEntS And KEY SoURCES oF 
EStimAtion UnCERtAintY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the 
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. the 
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. actual results may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.
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4. CRitiCAl ACCoUnting JUdgEmEntS And KEY SoURCES oF 
EStimAtion UnCERtAintY — continued

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

the following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), 
that the management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the Directors have determined that the Group’s investment 
properties situated in Hong Kong and in the united Kingdom (the “uK”) are not held under 
a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the investment properties over time, whereas those situated in australia are 
held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time. therefore, the presumption that the 
carrying amounts of investment properties are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted 
for properties situated in Hong Kong and the uK. For the Group’s investment properties situated 
in Hong Kong, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of 
these investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of 
these investment properties. For the Group’s investment properties situated in the uK, the 
Group has recognised deferred tax on changes in fair value of these investment properties due 
to changes of tax regulation in april 2019. the presumption that the carrying amounts of the 
Group’s investment properties situated in australia are recovered entirely through sale has 
been rebutted and the deferred tax on the changes in fair value of those investment properties 
is recognised according to the relevant tax rules.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

the following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

deferred tax asset

as at 31 December 2020, a deferred tax asset of HK$26,276,000 (2019: HK$21,427,000) in 
relation to unused tax losses of HK$153,634,000 (2019: HK$124,737,000) has been recognised 
to offset with the deferred tax liabilities arisen from same entities. no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised on the remaining tax losses of HK$352,776,000 (2019: HK$239,229,000) due 
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. the realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly 
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available 
in the future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty especially in the current year 
given the significant uncertainty on the potential disruption of Group’s hotel operations due 
to the CoVID-19 pandemic. In cases where the actual future taxable profits generated are less 
or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future 
taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may 
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or 
further recognition takes place.



110 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

4. CRitiCAl ACCoUnting JUdgEmEntS And KEY SoURCES oF 
EStimAtion UnCERtAintY — continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty  — continued

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties with a carrying amount of HK$7,338,649,000 in aggregate (2019: 
HK$7,313,892,000) are stated at fair value based on the valuation performed by independent 
qualified professional valuers. In determining the fair values, the valuers have used different 
methods of valuation which involve certain assumptions of market conditions. In relying on 
the valuation reports, the Directors have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the 
methods of valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes in assumption 
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair values of the investment properties. see 
note 19 for further disclosures.

Fair value measurement of financial assets at FVtPl

the Group’s financial assets at FVtpl as disclosed in note 25 are measured at fair values 
with fair values being determined based on unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. 
Judgement and estimation are required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and 
the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result 
in material adjustments to the fair values of these instruments. see note 35(c) for further 
disclosures.

5. CAPitAl RiSK mAnAgEmEnt

the Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
going concern while maximising the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balances. the Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

the capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (see below) and equity attributable to 
the owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, retained profits and reserves.
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5. CAPitAl RiSK mAnAgEmEnt — continued

the Directors review the capital structure periodically, monitor the level of bank borrowings 
and manage the leverage yield of returns while targeted to maintain a low gearing. the Group’s 
percentage of net debt to the carrying value of properties (comprising investment properties, 
properties included in property, plant and equipment and investment in a joint venture) at the 
end of the reporting period.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank balances and cash 3,354,456 5,027,037
pledged bank deposits 29,768 499,037
Debt instruments at FVtoCI 3,879,628 5,600,467
Financial assets at FVtpl 101,183 280,325
equity instruments at FVtoCI 431,485 —
Guaranteed notes (1,158,222) (2,718,359)
Bank borrowings (9,122,974) (11,059,959)
lease liabilities (203,812) (207,903)

net debt (2,688,488) (2,579,355)

total carrying value of properties 7,942,055 7,949,029
Investment in a joint venture 1,169,992 1,114,627

 9,112,047 9,063,656

percentage of net debt to carrying value of properties
 and investment in a joint venture which engaged in
 property development segment 29.5% 28.5%

6. SEgmEnt inFoRmAtion

Information reported to the executive Directors, being the chief operating decision makers 
(“CoDM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is 
mainly focused on property development, property investment, hotel operation and financial 
investment.

the property investment segment includes a number of various property locations, each 
location is considered as a separate operating segment by the CoDM. For segment reporting, 
these individual operating segments have been aggregated into a single reportable segment as 
property investment provide the same nature of income with the same recognition criteria.

the financial investment segment includes interest income from time deposits and investment 
income from listed and unlisted investments.

It is the Group’s strategy to make financial investment, particularly fixed income debt securities, 
from time to time in order to generate stable financial investment income for the Group.
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6. SEgmEnt inFoRmAtion — continued

Segment revenues and results

the following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from operating and reportable 
segments:

For the year ended 31 december 2020

 Property Property Hotel Financial
 development investment operation investment Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

seGMent reVenue
external revenue — 212,934 44,769 345,246 602,949

seGMent results
segment (loss) profit (2,865) 240,867 (33,650) 320,979 525,331

unallocated interest income     226
Corporate expenses     (75,095)
share of result of a joint venture     (61)
Finance costs     (273,679)

profit before taxation     176,722

For the year ended 31 December 2019

 property property Hotel Financial
 development investment operation investment Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

seGMent reVenue
external revenue — 200,055 192,318 424,056 816,429

seGMent results
segment (loss) profit (2,880) 243,119 39,414 441,850 721,503

unallocated interest income     335
Corporate expenses     (104,232)
share of result of a joint venture     (53)
Finance costs     (420,047)

profit before taxation     197,506

segment profit of the property investment division for the year ended 31 December 2020 
included an increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$39,067,000 (2019: 
HK$50,408,000).

the accounting policies for operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 3.
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6. SEgmEnt inFoRmAtion — continued

Segment revenues and results — continued

the Group does not allocate interest income generated from bank deposits, corporate 
expenses, share of result of a joint venture and finance costs to individual reportable segment 
profit or loss for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment by the 
CoDM.

the CoDM makes decisions according to operating results of each segment. no analysis of 
segment asset and segment liability is presented as the CoDM does not regularly review such 
information for the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment. therefore, 
only segment revenue and segment results are presented.

other segment profit or loss information

amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:

For the year ended 31 december 2020

 Property Property Hotel Financial
 development investment operation investment Unallocated Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

amortisation and depreciation
 — other assets — — — — 60 60
 — property, plant and equipment — — 22,987 — 13,861 36,848
Fair value changes on investment
 properties — (39,067) — — — (39,067)
Gain on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment — — (10) — — (10)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

 property property Hotel Financial
 development investment operation investment unallocated Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

amortisation and depreciation
 — other assets — — — — 60 60
 — property, plant and equipment — — 25,677 — 13,600 39,277
Fair value changes on investment
 properties — (50,408) — — — (50,408)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property,
 plant and equipment — (20) 40 — — 20
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6. SEgmEnt inFoRmAtion — continued

geographical information

the Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (country of domicile), australia and the uK.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers by the geographical location of 
its properties or the principal place of business of the Company is detailed below.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 411,057 620,367
australia 13,415 15,364
uK 178,477 180,698

 602,949 816,429

other than the tenants of 33 old Broad street and 20 Moorgate from whom the rental income 
represents 17% (2019: 13%) and 12% (2019: 9%) of the total revenue of the Group respectively, 
there is no other single customer who contributes over 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets, excluding financial assets at FVtpl, equity 
instruments at FVtoCI, debt instruments at FVtoCI, investment in a joint venture and pledged 
bank deposits, by geographical location is detailed below.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 3,093,175 3,272,302
australia 171,031 156,147
uK 4,697,218 4,542,345

 7,961,424 7,970,794

the total assets of the Group by geographical location which is determined by reference to the 
location of the asset or the principal place of the business of the Company are detailed below.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 12,071,954 15,752,957
australia 173,796 162,694
uK 4,715,928 4,622,125

 16,961,678 20,537,776
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7. REVEnUE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

renting of investment properties (note i) 212,934 200,055
Hotel operation (note ii) 44,769 192,318
return from financial investment
— interest income and others (note iii) 345,246 424,056

 602,949 816,429

notes:

i. Included in revenue generated from renting of investment properties, HK$210,366,000 (2019: 
HK$199,531,000) is rental income from leasing of investment properties under operating leases in 
which the lease payments are fixed. no rental income from leasing of investment properties under 
operating leases in which the lease payments depend on an index or a certain rate is generated for 
both years.

ii. For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue from hotel operation, which arose from contracts 
with customers comprises of (i) hotel room revenue of HK$28,156,000 (2019: HK$140,954,000) 
being recognised over time and based on output method; (ii) food and beverage sales of 
HK$6,265,000 (2019: HK$39,620,000) and ancillary service of HK$915,000 (2019: HK$2,089,000) 
being recognised at point in time. the remaining revenue of HK$9,433,000 (2019: HK$9,655,000) 
is rental income from leasing of hotel’s retail portion under operating leases in which the lease 
payments are fixed.

iii. Interest income and others includes interest income from listed and unlisted debt securities and 
time deposits of HK$345,022,000 (2019: HK$424,056,000) and dividend income from listed equity 
securities of HK$224,000 (2019: nil).

8. otHER inComE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income from bank deposits 226 335
Government grants 7,700 —
others 2,541 6,688

 10,467 7,023

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised government grants of 
HK$7,700,000 from places of public entertainment licence Holder subsidy scheme, Food 
licence Holders subsidy scheme and employment support scheme under anti-epidemic Fund of 
the Government of the Hong Kong special administrative region.
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9. PRoPERtY And RElAtEd CoStS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

selling and marketing expenses 144 1,056
Direct operating expenses of investment properties 5,083 2,980

 5,227 4,036

10. otHER EXPEnSES

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other expenses are:

Hotel operating expenses 15,575 48,721
legal and professional fees 14,446 21,244

11. otHER gAinS And loSSES

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

net exchange losses (6,911) (26,396)
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVtpl 1,014 31,334
Gain on disposal of an investment property — 6,375
loss on disposal of debt instruments at FVtoCI (24,000) —
loss on early redemption of debt instruments at FVtoCI — (2,335)

 (29,897) 8,978
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12. FinAnCE CoStS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings:
 Interest on bank borrowings 182,438 255,561
 amortisation of bank borrowings front-end fee 13,428 14,608

 195,866 270,169

Guaranteed notes:
 Interest on guaranteed notes 60,163 127,786
 amortisation of guaranteed notes issued costs 2,443 6,842

 62,606 134,628

lease liabilities:
 Interest on lease liabilities 8,044 7,966

other charges 7,163 7,284

 273,679 420,047

13. PRoFit BEFoRE tAXAtion

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging
 (crediting):

auditor’s remuneration 1,834 1,942
equity-settled share-based payment expenses
 — share options 464 565
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10) 20

Gross rental income from investment properties (210,366) (199,531)
less: direct operating expenses 5,083 2,980

net rental income (205,283) (196,551)
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14. inComE tAX EXPEnSE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax:
 Hong Kong 5,338 5,742
 australia 2,816 3,514
 the united Kingdom 14,203 10,220

 22,357 19,476

under(over)provision in prior years:
 Hong Kong 2,738 1,228
 the united Kingdom 71 (5,414)

 2,809 (4,186)

Deferred tax (note 34):
 Current year 588 9,098

 25,754 24,388

on 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong legislative Council passed the Inland revenue (amendment) 
(no. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. the Bill 
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity 
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. the profits of 
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be 
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% 
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated 
assessable profits above HK$2 million for the qualifying group entity.

the united Kingdom Corporate tax (2019: Income tax) is calculated at 19% (2019: 20%) of the 
estimated assessable profit. effective from 6 april 2019, the Group is subject to the united 
Kingdom Corporate tax which is calculated at 19% of the assessable chargeable capital gain on 
disposals.

Income tax arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing in the relevant 
jurisdictions.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 34.
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14. inComE tAX EXPEnSE — continued

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to profit before taxation per the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

profit before taxation 176,722 197,506

tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% 29,159 32,588
tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 35,271 47,679
tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (64,894) (70,220)
tax effect of tax losses not recognised 19,535 15,322
utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (1,097) (431)
Income tax at concessionary rate (165) (165)
effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 
 operating overseas 3,402 3,841
under(over)provision in prior years 2,809 (4,186)
others 1,734 (40)

Income tax expense for the year 25,754 24,388
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15. diRECtoRS’ And CHiEF EXECUtiVES EmolUmEntS

the emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors for the year are as follows:

 mr. mr. mr. mr. mr. Walujo mr. mr. mr.
 lu Wing lambert lam Sing lincoln Santoso, leung Hok Chung Pui Chan Kwok
 Chi, Jesse lu tai lu Wally lim lam Wai* total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2020
Fees 40 40 40 40 400 500 500 400 1,960
other emoluments
 Salaries and other benefits 3,600 6,000 1,200 — — — — — 10,800
 discretionary and performance-based
  bonus (note below) 3,534 3,534 200 — — — — — 7,268
 Retirement benefits scheme
  contributions 540 900 180 — — — — — 1,620

total emoluments 7,714 10,474 1,620 40 400 500 500 400 21,648

2019
Fees 40 40 40 40 400 500 500 233 1,793
other emoluments
 salaries and other benefits 4,800 6,000 2,400 — — — — — 13,200
 Discretionary and performance-based
  bonus (note below) 3,950 3,950 200 — — — — — 8,100
 retirement benefits scheme
  contributions 720 788 360 — — — — — 1,868

total emoluments 9,510 10,778 3,000 40 400 500 500 233 24,961

note: the Directors’ fee shown above were mainly for their services as Directors and its subsidiaries.

the other emoluments shown above were mainly for their services in connection with management 
of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

the discretionary and performance based bonus to Messrs. lu Wing Chi, Jesse and lambert lu 
are based on their contribution to the Group and calculated on the basis of profit before taxation 
attributable to the shareholders. the discretionary and performance based bonus to Mr. lam sing tai  
is based on the Group’s and his performance.

there was no arrangement under which a Director or the Chief executive waived or agreed to waive 
any remuneration during both years.

* Mr. Chan Kwok Wai was appointed on 1 June 2019.
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16. FiVE HigHESt PAid EmPloYEES

the five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included two Directors (2019: 
three Directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 15 above. Details of the 
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2019: two) highest paid employees who are 
neither a Director nor Chief executive are as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

salaries and other benefits 4,198 2,821
retirement benefits scheme contributions 417 246
Discretionary and performance-based bonus 477 470
equity-settled share-based payment 251 114

 5,343 3,651

the number of the highest paid employees who are not the Directors whose remuneration fell 
within the following bands is as follows:

 2020 2019
 number of number of
 employees employees

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 2

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 41 to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.

17. diVidEndS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividends recognised as distributions during the year:

2020 interim dividend — HK2 cents
 (2019: 2019 interim dividend — HK2 cents) per share 13,203 13,244
2019 final dividend — HK3 cents
 (2019: 2018 final dividend — HK3 cents) per share 19,869 19,866

 33,072 33,110

2020 final dividend proposed:
 HK3 cents (2019: HK3 cents) per share 19,267 19,869

subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in respect of the year ended  
31 December 2020 of HK3 cents (2019: HK3 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount 
of HK$19,267,000 (2019: HK$19,869,000), has been proposed by the Directors and is subject 
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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18. EARningS PER SHARE

the calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the Company’s 
shareholders is based on the following data:
 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings
 per share:

profit for the year attributable to the Company’s shareholders 150,968 173,118

 number of shares

 2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
 purpose of basic earnings per share 657,392,666 662,184,370
effect of dilutive potential ordinary share options — 119,750

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
 purpose of diluted earnings per share 657,392,666 662,304,120

the computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2020 does not 
assume the exercise of the Company’s share options as set out in note 41 as the exercise price 
of these options is higher than the average market price for the shares.

For the purpose of assessing the performance of the Group, the Directors are of the view that 
the profit for the year should be adjusted for the fair value changes on investment properties 
recognised in profit or loss and the related deferred taxation in arriving at the “adjusted profit 
attributable to the Company’s shareholders”. a reconciliation of the adjusted earnings is as 
follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

profit for the year attributable to the Company’s
 shareholders as shown in the consolidated statement
 of profit or loss 150,968 173,118
Fair value changes on investment properties (39,067) (50,408)
Deferred tax thereon 1,400 11,921

adjusted profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders 113,301 134,631
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18. EARningS PER SHARE — continued

 2020 2019
 HK cents HK cents

earnings per share excluding fair value changes
 on investment properties net of deferred tax
 — Basic 17.2 20.3

 — Diluted 17.2 20.3

the denominators used in the calculation of basic and diluted adjusted earnings per share for 
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are the same as those detailed in the calculation 
of basic and dilutive adjusted earnings per share above.

19. inVEStmEnt PRoPERtiES

the Group leases out various offices, retail stores and resort under operating leases with 
rentals payable monthly. the leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 35 years (2019:  
1 to 35 years). some of the lease contracts contain market review clauses. the leases of resort 
contain minimum annual lease payment that depends on index or at certain rate and variable 
lease payment that is based on a percentage of sales over minimum annual lease payment.

the Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the lease arrangements, as 
all leases are denominated in the respective functional currencies of group entities. the lease 
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the 
property at the end of lease term.

  United
 Hong Kong Kingdom Australia total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 January 2019 1,635,400 4,422,201 157,738 6,215,339
additions 979,680 — — 979,680
Disposal — (65,251) — (65,251)
Fair value changes 320 50,088 — 50,408
exchange adjustments — 135,307 (1,591) 133,716

at 31 December 2019 2,615,400 4,542,345 156,147 7,313,892
additions 12,433 — — 12,433
Disposal (note 37) (196,500) — — (196,500)
Fair value changes 39,067 — — 39,067
exchange adjustments — 154,873 14,884 169,757

At 31 december 2020 2,470,400 4,697,218 171,031 7,338,649

all of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals and/or for 
capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and 
accounted for as investment properties.
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19. inVEStmEnt PRoPERtiES — continued

Included in the investment properties in the united Kingdom are leasehold land subleased 
by the Group under operating leases. the related right-of-use assets of HK$190,858,000 are 
recognised with related lease liabilities of HK$188,981,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 
right-of-use assets of HK$184,565,000 and related lease liabilities of HK$182,759,000). the 
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased 
assets that are held by the lessor. leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing 
purposes.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total cash outflow for leases is HK$7,541,000 (2019: 
HK$9,293,000), paid for leasehold land under sublease.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group, through disposal of a subsidiary, 
disposed of an investment property in Hong Kong with a carrying amount of HK$196,500,000 
for a cash proceed of HK$196,500,000. Details are set out in note 37.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group acquired an investment property in Hong 
Kong at a consideration of HK$780,000,000. the amount has been settled in full.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of an investment property 
in the united Kingdom with a carrying amount of HK$65,251,000 for a cash proceed of 
HK$71,626,000, resulting in a gain of disposal of HK$6,375,000 recognised in other gains and 
losses.

the fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2019 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by the 
independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group as disclosed in below 
table.
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19. inVEStmEnt PRoPERtiES — continued

Details of the valuation methodology are as follows:

Valuer
Class of 
properties

Fair value as at 
31 december Valuation methodology

Fair value 
hierarchy

Unobservable key inputs to 
the valuation Sensitivity analysis

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Colliers 
International (Hong 
Kong) limited#  
and CBre limited * 
 (2019: Colliers 
International (Hong 
Kong) limited)

residential and 
commercial units 
in Hong Kong

2,470,400 2,615,400 the valuers have used the direct 
comparison approach and made 
reference to comparable sales 
evidence as available in the market 
adjusted by location, size, age and 
maintenance, etc.

level 3 Hong Kong residential units 
adjusting factors for nature, 
location and conditions of the 
property ranging from 81.4% to 
117.2% (2019: 76.1% to 108.4%)

Hong Kong commercial units 
adjusting factors for nature, 
location and conditions of the 
property ranging from 76.3% to 
118.9% (2019: 70.9% to 114.3%)

a significant increase in the 
adjusting factors for location, size, 
age and maintenance of the property 
used would result in a significant 
increase in fair value, and vice versa.

Colliers 
International 
Valuation uK llp@

office portion 
in the united 
Kingdom

4,697,218 4,542,345 the valuer has used the income 
capitalisation approach in which 
the valuations have reflected the 
current lease terms and capitalised 
the appropriate income stream, 
having regard to market comparable 
evidence.

level 3 uK office capitalisation rates 
ranging from 3.8% to 4.3% (2019: 
3.8% to 4.3%) per annum

a slight increase in the capitalisation 
rate used would result in a 
significant decrease in fair value, and 
vice versa.

CBre Valuations pty 
limited^

resort portion in 
australia

171,031 156,147 the valuer has used a combination of 
the income capitalisation approach 
and discounted cash flow analysis to 
determine the fair value.

Income capitalisation approach 
reflected the current lease terms and 
capitalised the appropriate income 
stream, having regard to market 
comparable evidence.

Discounted cash flow analysis was 
based upon estimation of future 
trading results which are based on 
historic trading analysis and future 
trading expectations having regard 
to any forecast capital expenditure, 
supply and demand factors, and 
estimated changes in economic and 
local market conditions.

level 3 australia resort capitalisation 
rates of 9.5% (2019: 9.5%) per 
annum for income capitalisation 
approach

the discount rate of 10.8% (2019: 
10.5%) for discounted cash flow 
analysis

a slight increase in the capitalisation 
rate and discounted rate used would 
result in a significant decrease in fair 
value, and vice versa.

# Colliers International (Hong Kong) limited is an independent professional valuer not 
connected to the Group and is a firm of registered valuers recognised by the Hong Kong 
Institute of surveyors.

* CBre limited is an independent professional valuer not connected to the Group and is a 
firm of registered valuers recognised by the Hong Kong Institute of surveyors.

@ Colliers International Valuation uK llp is an independent professional valuer not connected 
to the Group and is regulated by the royal Institution of Chartered surveyors.

^ CBre Valuations pty limited is an independent professional valuer not connected to the 
Group and is a firm of registered valuers recognised by the australian property Institute.
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19. inVEStmEnt PRoPERtiES — continued

In estimating the fair value of investment properties, the Group uses market-observable data 
to the extent it is available. In respect of the valuation of investment properties carried out by 
independent qualified professional valuers at the end of each reporting period, the valuers have 
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant 
locations. the management works closely with the independent qualified professional valuers 
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

there has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating 
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

there were no transfers into or out of level 3 for both years.

During the year, the Group leased its investment property to one of the Directors for a term of 
one year. the rental income recognised during the year amounted to HK$900,000.

20. imPAiRmEnt ASSESSmEnt oF FinAnCiAl ASSEtS SUBJECt to 
EXPECtEd CREdit loSS modEl

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Impairment loss recognised on a listed debt instrument
 at FVtoCI — 10,033

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group provided impairment allowance of 
HK$10,033,000 for an individual listed debt security due to the deterioration of credit quality 
of respective security.
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21. PRoPERtY, PlAnt And EQUiPmEnt

 Hotel  owned

 property  properties  Furniture,   Crockery,

 in leased in Plant and fixtures and motor leasehold utensils

 Hong Kong properties Hong Kong machinery equipment vehicles improvements and linen total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

at 1 January 2019 789,426 35,243 26,563 37,177 46,596 6,801 71,366 4,852 1,018,024

additions — — 83 — 1,846 — 1,244 — 3,173

Disposals (9) — — (25) (809) — (697) (26) (1,566)

at 31 December 2019 789,417 35,243 26,646 37,152 47,633 6,801 71,913 4,826 1,019,631

additions — — — — 2,271 510 — — 2,781

Disposals — — — — (60) (716) (19) — (795)

At 31 december 2020 789,417 35,243 26,646 37,152 49,844 6,595 71,894 4,826 1,021,617

DepreCIatIon

at 1 January 2019 183,257 — 1,522 34,081 39,949 2,438 70,630 — 331,877

provided for the year 19,994 10,066 1,332 3,097 2,874 1,409 505 — 39,277

eliminated on disposals (2) — — (26) (801) — (697) — (1,526)

at 31 December 2019 203,249 10,066 2,854 37,152 42,022 3,847 70,438 — 369,628

provided for the year 19,994 10,418 1,319 — 3,155 1,335 627 — 36,848

eliminated on disposals — — — — (60) (716) (19) — (795)

At 31 december 2020 223,243 20,484 4,173 37,152 45,117 4,466 71,046 — 405,681

CarrYInG Values

At 31 december 2020 566,174 14,759 22,473 — 4,727 2,129 848 4,826 615,936

at 31 December 2019 586,168 25,177 23,792 — 5,611 2,954 1,475 4,826 650,003

the above items of property, plant and equipment, except for crockery, utensils and linen, are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Hotel property in Hong Kong 40 years
leased properties over the term of the lease
owned properties in Hong Kong 4%
plant and machinery 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%
leasehold improvements 25%

all properties as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 were situated in Hong Kong.
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21. PRoPERtY, PlAnt And EQUiPmEnt — continued

the group as lessee

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)

 leased properties

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 January
 Carrying amount 25,177 35,243

For the year ended 31 december
 Depreciation charge (10,418) (10,066)

As at 31 december
 Carrying amount 14,759 25,177

the carrying amount of the leased properties categorised as right-of-use assets are recognised 
with related lease liabilities of HK$14,831,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: lease liabilities 
of HK$25,144,000). the lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security 
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. leased assets may not be used as 
security for borrowing purposes.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total cash outflows for leases is HK$10,826,000 
(2019: HK$10,537,000).

For both years, the Group leases office premises for its operations. lease contracts are 
entered into for fixed term of 3 years with extension options. In determining the lease term 
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a 
contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

the Group has extension options for lease of office premises. these are used to maximise 
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s operation. the 
majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not 
by the respective lessors.

the Group assesses, at lease commencement date, whether it is reasonably certain to exercise 
the extension options. the potential exposures to these future undiscounted lease payments 
for extension options in which the Group is not reasonably certain to exercise of the lease 
liabilities as at 31 December 2020 are HK$32,478,000 (2019: HK$32,478,000) of which such 
amount has not been recognised in consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option 
upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that 
is within the control of the lessee. During the year, there is no such triggering event (2019: nil).
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21. PRoPERtY, PlAnt And EQUiPmEnt — continued

the group as lessee — continued

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)  — continued

Impairment assessment

the management of the Group concluded there was indication for impairment and conducted 
impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of certain property, plant and equipment 
related to hotel operation with carrying amounts of approximately HK$566,174,000. the 
management of the Group estimated the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
(“CGu”) to which the assets belong based on fair value less costs of disposal. the relevant 
properties were measured at fair value based on level 3 hierarchy using residual approach 
on a redevelopment basis. In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Group 
engaged an independent qualified professional valuer to perform the valuation. the key 
unobservable inputs used in valuing the relevant properties included the gross development 
value on completion status and estimated project redevelopment cost.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the Group determined that the 
recoverable amount of the CGu based on the fair value less cost of disposal was higher than its 
carrying amount. no impairment is recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020.

22. inVEStmEnt in A Joint VEntURE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment cost 1 1
loan to a joint venture 1,170,145 1,114,719
less: share of post-acquisition losses (154) (93)

 1,169,992 1,114,627

the loan to a joint venture is unsecured, interest bearing at floating rate ranging from 
approximately 0.6% to 2.4% (2019: 1.8% to 2.5%), has no fixed terms of repayment and is not 
expected to be recovered within one year from the end of the reporting period. In the opinion 
of the Directors, the loan is considered as part of the Group’s net investment in the joint 
venture.

the Group holds 10% of the ownership interest of asia Bright Development limited (“asia 
Bright”). However, asia Bright is accounted for as a joint venture as at 31 December 2020 and 
31 December 2019 as major financial and operating decision required the unanimous consent 
of all joint venture partners in accordance with the Memorandum of agreement entered into by 
the Group with other third party investors for establishment of asia Bright in 2017.
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22. inVEStmEnt in A Joint VEntURE — continued

Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

   Proportion of
  Principal ownership Proportion of
 Country of place of interest held voting rights held Principal
name of entity incorporation business by the group by the group activity

   2020 2019 2020 2019

asia Bright Hong Kong Hong Kong 10% 10% 10% 10% property
        development

Summarised financial information of the joint venture

summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint venture is set out below. 
the summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s 
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFrss.

the joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial 
statements.
 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 19,362,600 18,659,174

Current liabilities (70,491) (82,893)

non-current liabilities (19,293,642) (18,577,204)

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

revenue — —

loss for the year (610) (531)
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22. inVEStmEnt in A Joint VEntURE — continued

reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the 
interest in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

net liabilities of asia Bright (1,533) (923)
proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in asia Bright 10% 10%

 (153) (92)
Capital contribution in form of loan to a joint venture 1,170,145 1,114,719

Carrying amount of the Group’s investment in asia Bright 1,169,992 1,114,627

as at 31 December 2020, the Group has executed corporate financial guarantees in proportion 
of its equity interest in joint venture for the banking facilities granted to the joint venture. 
the total amount of such facilities attributable to the Group was HK$1,073,183,000 (2019: 
HK$955,000,000), of which HK$691,620,000 (2019: HK$691,620,000) was utilised and 
HK$381,563,000 (2019: HK$263,380,000) was unutilised.

at the end of the reporting period, the Group did not recognise any liabilities in respect of such 
corporate financial guarantees as the Directors consider that the fair values of these financial 
guarantee contracts at their initial recognition and at the end of the reporting period are 
insignificant.

23. EQUitY inStRUmEntS At FAiR VAlUE tHRoUgH otHER 
ComPREHEnSiVE inComE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

equity securities listed in Hong Kong and united states 431,485 —

the above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of entities listed in Hong Kong 
and united states. these investments are not held for trading; instead, they are held for 
long-term strategic purposes. the Directors have elected to designate these investments in 
equity instruments at FVtoCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these 
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of 
holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in 
the long run.

Details of the fair value measurement are disclosed in note 35(c).
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24. dEBt inStRUmEntS At FAiR VAlUE tHRoUgH otHER 
ComPREHEnSiVE inComE

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

unlisted investments at fair value:
 — Debt securities (note i) — 709,000

listed investments at fair value:
 — Debt securities maturing between the period from
   March 2021 to april 2026 (2019: January 2020
   to July 2026) with a fixed interest ranging from
   3.1% to 12.0% (2019: from 1.9% to 12.0%)
   per annum (note ii) 3,879,628 4,891,467

total 3,879,628 5,600,467

analysed for reporting purposes as:
 Current assets 806,575 2,447,346
 non-current assets 3,073,053 3,153,121

 3,879,628 5,600,467

notes:

(i) as at 31 December 2019, the Group held two notes issued by China strategic Holdings limited, 
an independent company listed on the stock exchange with principal activities of investment 
in securities, trading, money lending as well as securities brokerage, at principal amounts of 
HK$500,000,000 and HK$200,000,000 with maturity dates in December 2020 and august 2020 
respectively.

as at 31 December 2019, both notes are measured at fair value determined based on the valuation 
conducted by an independent qualified professional valuer.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the interest income generated from these unlisted debt 
securities was HK$58,573,000 (2019: HK$68,232,000) and the fair value gain was HK$2,482,000 
(2019: fair value loss of HK$2,632,000), which were recognised in profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, both notes were redeemed upon maturity.
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24. dEBt inStRUmEntS At FAiR VAlUE tHRoUgH otHER 
ComPREHEnSiVE inComE — continued

notes: — continued

(ii) as at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investments in listed debt securities with principal amount 
ranging from us$500,000 to us$66,000,000 (2019: us$300,000 to us$66,000,000) will mature 
between March 2021 to april 2026 with fixed interests ranging from 3.1% to 12.0% per annum (2019: 
January 2020 to July 2026 with fixed interests ranging from 1.9% to 12.0% per annum), which have 
been pledged as security for the bank borrowings (2019: pledged).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, interest income generated from the listed debt securities 
was HK$246,570,000 (2019: HK$202,006,000) and fair value loss was HK$38,083,000 (2019: fair 
value gain of HK$46,401,000), which were recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income respectively.

as at 31 December 2020, the Group held listed debt securities with an aggregate principal 
amount of us$157,000,000 (2019: us$110,000,000) issued by China evergrande Group 
(“China evergrande”). China evergrande and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property 
development, property investment, property management, new energy vehicle business, hotel 
operations, finance business, internet business and health industry in the prC.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the interest income generated from the listed debt 
securities issued by China evergrande was HK$89,285,000 (2019: HK$71,179,000) and fair value 
loss was HK$5,082,000 (2019: HK$21,308,000), which were recognised in profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income respectively.

the Directors consider the prospects of these investments is positive with no significant credit risk.

(iii) Details of impairment assessment and fair value measurement are disclosed at note 35(b) and (c).

25. FinAnCiAl ASSEtS At FAiR VAlUE tHRoUgH PRoFit oR loSS

Financial assets measured at FVtpl:
 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

unlisted investments
 — preferred shares (note) 88,062 272,538
 — unit fund 13,121 7,787

 101,183 280,325

analysed for reporting purposes as:
 Current assets 80,309 —
 non-current assets 20,874 280,325

 101,183 280,325
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25. FinAnCiAl ASSEtS At FAiR VAlUE tHRoUgH PRoFit oR loSS  
— continued

note: the unlisted investments in preferred shares do not meet the requirement of an equity 
instruments based on the terms and conditions of the shares. In addition, it does not represent 
solely payment for principal and interest of the principal amount outstanding, and it is therefore, 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Included in the unlisted investments in preferred shares is the Group’s investment in preferred 
shares issued by an unlisted entity incorporated in the Cayman Islands (the “preferred shares”) of 
HK$80,309,000 (2019: HK$264,751,000).

as at 31 December 2019, the Group held us$34,000,000 (approximately HK$264,751,000) of 
the preferred shares which represented 2.12% of issued shares of the entity (including ordinary 
shares and preferred shares). the entity is principally engaged in the provision of online credit 
assessment platform to individuals and institutions through the use of big data. the Group is 
entitled to receive dividend on the same basis as the ordinary shareholders of the entity. subject 
to the consent of more than fifty percent of preferred shares holders, the Group is entitled to 
redeem all or part of the preferred shares, at any time after the earlier of 31 December 2020 or 
occurrence of certain events as set out in the memorandum and articles of association of this 
entity. In addition, the Group is entitled to receive 107% on the preferred shares investment 
amount upon liquidation of the entity.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the entity has agreed to redeem the outstanding 
preferred shares from the Group and other preferred shares holders, pursuant to the redemption 
agreement entered between the entity, the Group and other preferred shares holders on 21 
December 2020 (“redemption agreement”). the redemption price payable by the entity under the 
redemption agreement is to be settled in several tranches in form of cash and equity securities 
of a private entity established in prC, within one year from the signing of the redemption 
agreement. as at the end of the reporting period, one of the tranches has been settled by cash 
amounting to us$15,403,000 (approximately HK$119,478,000) being received by the Group.

In addition, the entity has advanced loan principals of us$8,000,000 carrying fixed interest rate 
of 10% per annum to the Group during the year with an unconditional right allowing the Group to 
set-off such loan against any obligation due from the entity, including the preferred shares. as at 
31 December 2020, the Group has exercised the right to set-off the loan principals with related 
interests amounting to us$8,367,000 (approximately HK$64,901,000) against the preferred 
shares, without notice or demand as pursuant to the terms and conditions stipulated in the loan 
agreements. Based on the opinion from external legal counsel, the Directors considered that the 
Group’s obligation to repay such loan principals and related interest amounting to us$8,367,000 
(approximately HK$64,901,000) has been fully discharged and the corresponding amount of 
preferred shares has been redeemed, after the exercise of right to set-off.

the fair value of the preferred shares as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 has been 
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates by the Directors with 
reference to the valuation performed by Jones lang lasalle Corporate appraisal and advisory 
limited, an independent professional valuer not connected to the Group.

Details of fair value measurement are disclosed in note 35(c).
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26. otHER ASSEtS

other assets represent club memberships with finite useful lives and amortised on a straight-line  
basis over the membership period of 24 years up to 31 December 2039 as the Directors are of 
the opinion that the Group will derive benefits from the use of these club memberships over 
their lives.

Club memberships with indefinite useful lives are stated at cost. all club memberships will be 
tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication of impairment.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, amortisation of HK$60,000 (2019: HK$60,000) was 
recognised in profit or loss.

27. BAnK BAlAnCES And CASH/PlEdgEd BAnK dEPoSitS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.1% to 0.7% (2019: 0.1% to 3.7%) 
per annum. the pledged bank deposits amounting to HK$29,768,000 (2019: HK$482,525,000) 
carry fixed interest rates ranged from 0.2% to 0.5% (2019: ranged from 1.3% to 2.4%) per 
annum represent deposits pledged to banks to secure bank borrowings due within one year, 
and therefore they are classified as current assets.

as at 31 December 2019, the pledged bank deposits amounting to HK$16,512,000 carry fixed 
interest rates of 2.1% represented deposits pledged to banks to secure bank borrowings due 
after one year, and therefore they were classified as non-current assets. During the year ended 
31 December 2020, such pledged bank deposits were released upon the settlement of relevant 
bank borrowings.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits are set out in note 35(b).

28. tRAdE And otHER RECEiVABlES, dEPoSitS And PREPAYmEntS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

trade receivables
 — Hotel operation (note) 133 1,660
accrued income 1,066 2,086
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 31,595 40,722

 32,794 44,468

note: trade receivables from corporate customers and travel agents for the use of hotel facilities.

as at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to HK$5,455,000.
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28. tRAdE And otHER RECEiVABlES, dEPoSitS And PREPAYmEntS 
— continued

the following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented based on the invoice date.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 131 1,654
31 to 60 days 2 6

 133 1,660

as at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with 
aggregate carrying amount of HK$2,000 (2019: HK$6,000) which are past due as at the 
reporting date. the outstanding balances have been subsequently settled. the Group does not 
hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out in note 35(b).

29. PAYABlES, REntAl dEPoSitS And ACCRUEd CHARgES

the following is an aged analysis of trade payable presented based on the invoice date.

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 60 days 593 1,411

trade payables 593 1,411
rental deposits 7,043 11,053
rental received in advance 45,622 43,932
other payables, other deposits and accrued charges 70,718 103,266
Interest payables 29,368 67,318

 153,344 226,980

the average credit period on purchase of goods is 60 days.

rental deposits to be refunded after twelve months from the end of the reporting period based 
on the respective lease terms amounted to HK$4,757,000 (2019: HK$7,589,000).
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30. BAnK BoRRoWingS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

secured 7,602,286 8,934,857
unsecured 1,551,500 2,159,000

 9,153,786 11,093,857
less: front-end fee (30,812) (33,898)

 9,122,974 11,059,959

less: amounts due within one year shown under
    current liabilities (3,511,586) (5,765,168)

amounts shown under non-current liabilities 5,611,388 5,294,791

the carrying amounts of bank borrowings are
 repayable based on repayment schedule:

 Within one year 3,516,308 5,769,990
 Within a period of more than one year, but not exceeding
  two years 1,118,436 1,382,709
 Within a period of more than two years, but not exceeding
  five years 4,519,042 3,941,158

 9,153,786 11,093,857

as at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings of HK$3,147,672,000 (2019: HK$5,697,421,000) 
with repayment on demand clause are shown under current liabilities.

except for the bank borrowing of HK$506,508,000 (2019: HK$3,383,986,000) denominated 
in HK$ being the foreign currency of the relevant group entities with functional currency in 
united states Dollars (“usD”), the remaining bank borrowings are denominated in the functional 
currencies of the relevant group entities, the principal amount of which are analysed below:

 2020 2019
Denominated in HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars 4,378,100 4,464,800
australian dollars 19,136 24,569
Great Britain pounds 2,860,378 3,220,502
united states dollars 1,389,664 —

 8,647,278 7,709,871

the effective interest rates of these variable rate borrowings range from 0.6% to 2.2% (2019: 1.2% 
to 5.8%) per annum.



138 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

31. gUARAntEEd notES

on 19 January 2017, the Group issued us$200,000,000 (approximately HK$1,555,480,000) 
4.5% guaranteed notes with a maturity of three years due on 19 January 2020 guaranteed by 
the Company (the “Guaranteed notes 2017”). During the year, the Guaranteed notes 2017 were 
fully paid at their principal amount upon maturity.

the Guaranteed notes 2017 bear interest at 4.50% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears 
on 19 January and 19 July in each year.

on 19 January 2018, the Group fur ther i ssued us$150,000,000 (approximate ly 
HK$1,172,940,000) 4.875% guaranteed notes with a maturity of five years due on 19 January 
2023 guaranteed by the Company (the “Guaranteed notes 2018”). the Guaranteed notes 2018 
are payable at their principal amount upon maturity.

the Guaranteed notes 2018 bear interest at 4.875% per annum, payable semi-annually in 
arrears on 19 January and 19 July in each year.

32. lEASE liABilitiES

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

lease liabilities payable:
 Within one year 12,901 10,323
 Within a period of more than one year
  but not more than two years 6,650 10,608
 Within a period of more than two years
  but not more than five years 7,649 4,356
 Within a period of more than five years 176,612 182,616

 203,812 207,903
less: amount due for settlement within 12 months shown
    under current liabilities (12,901) (10,323)

amount due for settlement after 12 months shown
 under non-current liabilities 190,911 197,580

lease obligations are denominated in currencies of the functional currencies of the relevant 
group entities.



139S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

33. SHARE CAPitAl

 number of
 ordinary shares
 of HK$0.1 each nominal value

 2020 2019 2020 2019
   HK$’000 HK$’000

Authorised 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000 100,000 100,000

issued and fully paid:
 at beginning of year 662,288,726 662,058,726 66,229 66,206
 shares issued upon exercise of 
  share options — 230,000 — 23
 shares repurchased and cancelled (20,050,000) — (2,005) —

at end of year 642,238,726 662,288,726 64,224 66,229

During the year ended 31 December 2019, 230,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the 
Company were issued at the subscription price of HK$6.302 per share, upon exercise of the 
share options.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company repurchased its own ordinary shares 
through the stock exchange of Hong Kong limited as follows:

month of  no. of ordinary Price Aggregate
repurchase shares of HK$0.1 each per share consideration 
  Highest lowest paid
  HK$ HK$ HK$’000

september 10,446,000 10.00 9.00 101,713
october 9,604,000 9.90 7.28 92,459

the above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase.

none of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during 
both years.



140 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

34. dEFERREd tAXAtion

the following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised and movements 
thereon during the current and prior year:

 Accelerated Fair value of
 tax investment tax lease
 depreciation properties losses liabilities others total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 January 2019 25,524 32,625 (17,078) — 41 41,112
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 1,938 11,921 (4,367) (353) (41) 9,098
exchange adjustments 156 (48) 18 (8) — 118

at 31 December 2019 27,618 44,498 (21,427) (361) — 50,328
Charge (credit) to profit or loss 3,842 1,400 (4,670) 16 — 588
exchange adjustments 295 3,584 (179) (18) — 3,682

At 31 december 2020 31,755 49,482 (26,276) (363) — 54,598

at the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$506,410,000 
(2019: HK$363,966,000) available for offset against future profits. a deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of HK$153,634,000 (2019: HK$124,737,000) of such losses. no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$352,776,000 (2019: 
HK$239,229,000) due to unpredictability of future profit streams. all tax losses may be carried 
forward indefinitely.

35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVtpl 101,183 280,325
Debt instruments at FVtoCI 3,879,628 5,600,467
equity instruments at FVtoCI 431,485 —
Financial assets at amortised cost 4,564,489 6,681,746

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 10,372,581 13,925,225
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

the Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 
Group’s risk management framework. the Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Group’s 
activities. the Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, 
aims to develop a constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations. the Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating 
to the operations of the Group to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a 
timely and effective manner. these risks include market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

market risk

(i) Currency risk

Certain subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency denominated 
monetary assets/(liabilities) which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. the 
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the 
management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign exchange exposure should the need arises.

the carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency, except us$, denominated 
net monetary assets (liabilities) at the end of the reporting period in the respective 
group entities are as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

renminbi 1,195 1,236
australian dollars 9,736 949
Great Britain pounds 794 2,879
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

market risk — continued

(i) Currency risk — continued

Sensitivity analysis

the following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and 
decrease in the functional currencies of the relevant subsidiaries (i.e. renminbi, 
australian dollars and Great Britain pounds) against the relevant foreign currencies 
of the relevant subsidiaries (i.e. renminbi, australian dollars and Great Britain 
pounds). 5% (2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency 
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. a positive 
number below indicates an increase in profit for the year where the relevant 
functional currencies of the subsidiaries strengthen 5% (2019: 5%) against relevant 
foreign currencies. there would be an equal and opposite impact where functional 
currencies of the relevant subsidiaries weaken by 5% (2019: 5%) against the relevant 
foreign currencies.

 (increase) decrease in
 profit for the year

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

renminbi 60 62
australian dollars 487 47
Great Britain pounds 40 144

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent 
foreign currency risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during 
the relevant years.

since the HK$ is pegged to the us$ under the linked exchange rate system, the 
management does not expect any significant foreign currency exposure in relation 
to the exchange rate fluctuations between the Hong Kong dollar and the united 
states dollar.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

market risk — continued

(ii) Interest rate risk

the Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to guaranteed notes, 
listed and unlisted debt securities, and pledged bank deposits. the Group is also 
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate borrowings and 
bank balances. the Directors consider that the interest rate risk on bank balances 
are insignificant as they are subject to minimal interest rate fluctuation, accordingly, 
no sensitivity analysis is presented. the Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is 
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the Hong Kong Interbank offered rate 
(“HIBor”), the British pound sterling london Interbank offered rate and australian 
Bank Bill swap Bid rate on the bank borrowings. the Group aims at keeping 
borrowings at variable rates. the Group manages its interest rate exposures by 
assessing the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements based 
on interest rate level and outlook. the management will review the proportion of 
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

total interest income in revenue and other income from financial assets that are 
measured at amortised cost or at FVtoCI is as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue
Financial assets
 — at amortised cost 39,879 150,824
 — at FVtoCI 305,143 270,238
 
 345,022 421,062

other income
Financial assets
 — at amortised cost 226 335

total interest income 345,248 421,397

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVtpl:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 258,472 404,797
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

market risk — continued

(ii) Interest rate risk — continued

Sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to 
interest rates at the end of the reporting period. the analysis is prepared assuming 
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period was 
outstanding for the whole year. a 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) increase 
or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings and are used when reporting interest 
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents the management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) higher/lower and 
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s:

•	 profit	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	December	 2020	would	 decrease/increase	 by	
HK$45,769,000 (2019: HK$55,469,000) in respect to its variable-rate bank 
borrowings; and

•	 investment	 revaluation	 reserve	would	 decrease/increase	 by	HK$19,398,000	
(2019: HK$28,002,000) in respect to the changes in the fair value of fixed rate 
instruments classified as debt instruments at FVtoCI.

(iii) Price risk

the Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equity 
securities measured at FVtoCI. For listed equity securities measured at FVtoCI, 
the management of the Group manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of 
investments with different risks.

Sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure to equity 
price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had been 5% higher/lower, the 
Group’s investment revaluation reserve for the year ended 31 December 2020 would 
increase/decrease by HK$21,574,000 as a result of changes in fair value of listed 
equity securities measured at FVtoCI.

no prior year sensitivity analysis is presented as the Group had no equity 
instruments at FVtoCI at 31 December 2019.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. the Group’s credit risk exposures 
are primarily attributable to trade receivables, other receivables, pledged bank deposits, 
bank balances, debt instruments at FVtoCI, loan to a joint venture and contingent liability 
in relation to the financial guarantee contract to its joint venture (see note 22). the 
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks 
associated with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team 
responsible for determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before granting 
credit to any corporate customers and travel agents, the Group uses an internal credit 
assessment policy to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limit 
by corporate customer and travel agents. limits attributed to customers are reviewed 
regularly. other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is 
taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s 
credit risk is mitigated. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under 
eCl model on trade balances individually. For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019, the Group assessed the eCl for trade receivables were insignificant and thus no 
loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the Directors make periodic individual assessment 
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement 
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. the Directors believe that there 
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and 
the Group provided impairment based on 12m eCl. For the years ended 31 December 
2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the eCl for other receivables and deposits were 
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the 
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by international 
credit agencies. the Group assessed 12m eCl for pledged bank deposits and bank 
balances by reference to information relating to probability of default and loss given 
default of the respective credit rating grades published by external credit rating agencies. 
For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the eCl for 
pledged bank deposits and bank balances were insignificant and thus no loss allowance 
was recognised.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — continued

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

the Group only invests in debt securities with low credit risk. the Group’s debt 
instruments at FVtoCI comprise listed and unlisted securities that are either (i) in 
investment grades or (ii) issued by large prC state-owned institutions or (iii) issued by 
large listed companies with secured financial capability and where no default occurred in 
the past years and therefore are considered to be low credit risk investments.

the Group has established an expected credit losses calculation methodology that is 
based on the probability of default assigned to each issuer according to their external 
credit ratings, financial performance and financial positions and the related historical 
credit losses experience, adjusted for forward-looking information, including the 
economic development that the issuers are operated in, such as forecast property market 
development, forecast changes in default rate of the respective credit rating published by 
the external credit rating agencies, etc.

as mentioned in note 20, there was an indication that there was significant increase in 
credit risk of one of the debt instruments at FVtoCI, and therefore, lifetime eCl has been 
adopted for assessing the impairment loss on that debt security and the Group provided 
impairment loss allowance of HK$10,033,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. 
other than that, the Directors believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12m eCl.

Loan to a joint venture

the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterparty is limited 
as the counterparty engages in property development in Hong Kong and the underlying 
properties under development are of high quality. For the years ended 31 December 2020 
and 2019, the Group assessed the eCl for loan to a joint venture was insignificant and 
thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contracts provided to the banking facilities granted to a joint 
venture, the maximum amount that the Group has guaranteed under the respective 
contracts was HK$691,620,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019: HK$691,620,000). at the 
end of the reporting period, the Directors have performed impairment assessment, and 
concluded that there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
of the financial guarantee contracts as the guarantee is secured by the properties of the 
joint venture for both years. In addition, the Directors make periodic assessment on the 
eCl based on financial position and financial performance of the joint venture, and also 
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking 
information, including the macroeconomic conditions that the counterparties operated in, 
such as forecast unemployment rate and property market development, etc. accordingly, 
the loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured 
at an amount equal to 12m eCl. For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the 
Group assessed the eCl for financial guarantee contracts were insignificant and thus no 
loss allowance was recognised.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — continued

Financial guarantee contract — continued

other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with 
several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does not have any other significant 
concentration of credit risk. trade receivables consist of a large number of customers.

the Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

internal    other
credit rating description trade receivables financial assets

low risk the counterparty has  lifetime eCl — 12m eCl
  a low risk of default  not credit-impaired
  and does not have any 
  past-due amounts

Watch list Debtor frequently repays  lifetime eCl — 12m eCl
  after due dates  not credit-impaired
  but usually settles in full

Doubtful there have been significant  lifetime eCl — lifetime eCl —
  increases in  not credit-impaired  not credit-impaired
  credit risk since initial 
  recognition through
  information developed 
  internally or external resources

loss there is evidence indicating  lifetime eCl — lifetime eCl —
  the asset is  credit-impaired  credit-impaired
  credit-impaired

Write-off there is evidence indicating  amount is written off amount is written off
  that the debtor
  is in severe financial difficulty 
  and the Group has no realistic 
  prospect of recovery
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — continued

the table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets and 
financial guarantee contract which are subject to eCl assessment:

 External internal
 credit  credit  12m ECl or gross carrying amount

 rating rating lifetime ECl 2020 2019
    HK$’000 HK$’000

debt instruments at FVtoCi

Investments in listed securities a to B n/a 12m eCl 3,879,628 4,891,467

Investments in unlisted securities n/a low risk 12m eCl — 709,000
  (note i)

Financial assets at amortised costs

pledged bank deposits aa n/a 12m eCl 29,768 499,037

Bank balances aa n/a 12m eCl 3,354,301 5,026,792

loan to a joint venture n/a low risk 12m eCl 1,170,145 1,114,719
  (note i)

other receivables n/a low risk 12m eCl 9,987 39,293
  (note i)

trade receivables
— hotel operation n/a low risk lifetime eCl 133 1,660
  (note ii)  (not credit-
    impaired)

other item

Financial guarantee contract n/a (note iii) 12m eCl 691,620 691,620
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

Credit risk and impairment assessment — continued

notes:

i. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past due information to 
assess whether credit risk has increased significant since initial recognition.

For investment in unlisted securities, the issuer has either investment grades or issued by a 
large institution, therefore, no significant increase in credit risk is noted.

the loan to a joint venture has no fixed terms of repayment and has not past due. thus, no 
significant increase in credit risk is noted for the year ended 31 December 2020.

all other receivables are repayable on demand with no fixed term of repayment. the balance 
are settled within 30 days after debit notes issued, thus, no significant increase in credit risk 
is noted for the year ended 31 December 2020.

ii. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFrs 9 to measure 
the loss allowance at lifetime eCl. the Group determine the expected credit losses on these 
items individually. the balances are settled within 30 days after the credit period granted, 
thus, no significant increase in credit risk noted for the year ended 31 December 2020.

iii. For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount represents the maximum amount 
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts.

liquidity risk

ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Directors, who have 
built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the 
Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity requirements. the Group 
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities, and by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. as at 31 December 2020, the 
Group has bank balances and cash of HK$3,354,456,000 (2019: HK$5,027,037,000) and 
available unutilised bank borrowings facilities of approximately HK$3,332,105,000 (2019: 
HK$2,412,407,000).

the following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial 
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. the table has been drawn up based on 
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay. specially, bank borrowings with a repayment on demand 
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks 
choosing to exercise their rights. the maturity for other financial liabilities are based on 
the agreed repayment dates.



150 S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

liquidity risk — continued

the table includes both interest and principal cash flows, estimated based on interest rate 
at the end of the reporting period.

 Weighted Repayable
 average on demand 3 months 6 months 9 months  total
 effective or within to to to over undiscounted Carrying
 interest rate 3 months 6 months 9 months 12 months 1 year cash flows amount
 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 december 2020
payables and deposits received — 84,861 219 453 1,626 4,226 91,385 91,385
Bank borrowings (note i) 1.39 3,203,302 36,310 36,255 1,401,940 4,661,587 9,339,394 9,122,974
Guaranteed notes 4.88 28,343 — 28,343 — 1,247,798 1,304,484 1,158,222
lease liabilities 4.08 4,705 4,705 4,705 4,705 712,238 731,058 203,812

  3,321,211 41,234 69,756 1,408,271 6,625,849 11,466,321 10,576,393

Financial guarantee (note ii)  691,620 — — — — 691,620 —

 Weighted repayable
 average on demand 3 months 6 months 9 months  total
 effective or within to to to over undiscounted Carrying
 interest rate 3 months 6 months 9 months 12 months 1 year cash flows amount
 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 december 2019
payables and deposits received — 136,431 853 534 1,500 7,589 146,907 146,907
Bank borrowings (note i) 4.00 5,787,758 59,836 59,668 59,500 5,741,958 11,708,720 11,059,959
Guaranteed notes 4.66 1,620,871 — 28,470 — 1,310,372 2,959,713 2,718,359
lease liabilities 3.99 4,639 4,639 4,639 4,639 696,625 715,181 207,903

  7,549,699 65,328 93,311 65,639 7,756,544 15,530,521 14,133,128

Financial guarantee (note ii)  691,620 — — — — 691,620 —
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies — continued

liquidity risk — continued

notes:

i. the amounts included above for variable rate bank borrowings are subject to change if 
changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the 
end of the reporting period.

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “within 3 
months” time band in the above maturity analysis. as at 31 December 2020, the aggregate 
carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$3,147,672,000 (2019: 
HK$5,697,421,000). those bank borrowings are revolving loan in nature, and with repayment 
period of less than three months. taking into account the Group’s financial position, the 
Directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary 
rights to demand immediate repayment.

ii. the amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts 
the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount 
if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at 
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that no 
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change 
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a 
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are 
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for financial 
reporting purposes. the management determines the appropriate valuation techniques 
and inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it 
is available. Where level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages independent 
qualified professional valuers to perform the valuation if the investment is material. 
the management works closely with the independent qualified professional valuers to 
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. the management 
reports the findings to the Directors regularly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the 
fair value.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments — continued

(i) Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are measured at fair 
values on a recurring basis

some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. the following table gives information about how the fair values of 
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and 
inputs used).

Fair value as at

Financial assets
31 december 

2020
31 December 

2019
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) and 
key input(s)

HK$’000 HK$’000
     

listed equity securities 
classified as equity 
instruments at 
FVtoCI (note 23)

431,485 — level 1 the fair value is quoted price in an 
active market.

listed debt securities 
classified as debt 
instruments at 
FVtoCI (note 24)

3,879,628 4,891,467 level 1 the fair value is quoted price in an 
active market.

unlisted debt securities 
classified as debt 
instruments at 
FVtoCI (note 24)

— 709,000 level 2 the fair value of the note is determined 
by the discounted cash flow model. 
It is estimated by computing the sum 
of the present values of all expected 
future cash flows for an appropriate 
period, each discounted by their 
prevailing market rates of interest for 
a similar instrument with a similar 
credit rating.

this discount rate should consider 
the time value of money, inflation 
and the risk inherent in ownership 
of the asset or security interest 
being valued. the discount rate is 
determined with reference to a credit 
spread derived from comparable 
bonds with similar credit rating and 
maturity.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments — continued

(i) Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are measured at fair 
values on a recurring basis — continued

Fair value as at

Financial assets
31 december 

2020
31 December 

2019
Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) and 
key input(s)

HK$’000 HK$’000
     

unlisted investment 
classified as financial 
assets at FVtpl  
— preferred shares  
  (note 25)

88,062 272,538 level 3 2020
the fair value of the preferred shares 

is determined with reference to the 
adjusted net assets value approach 
and income approach.

adjusted net assets value approach 
determines the fair value with 
reference to the net assets value 
of the subject assets adjusted by 
revaluation of certain underlying 
assets, discount for lack of 
marketability and discount for lack of 
control.

Income approach determines the fair 
value with reference to the future 
cash flows of the subject assets 
adjusted by default rate and recovery 
rate.

the significant unobservable inputs are 
the discount for lack of marketability 
of 16% and the discount for lack 
of control of 32%. an increase in 
discount for lack of marketability or 
the discount for lack of control could 
result in decrease in fair value of the 
preferred shares.

2019
the fair value of the preferred 

shares is determined by use of the 
combination of market approach and 
Black-scholes option pricing model.

Market approach determines the 
value of the subject asset with 
reference to price to earnings ratio 
of similar assets in listed market and 
adjusted by the discount for lack of 
marketability.

the Black-scholes option pricing model 
determines the value of option based 
on such parameters as risk-free rate, 
prevailing price of the underlying 
stock, exercise price, expected 
volatility of the underlying share 
prices, and term to maturity.

the significant unobservable inputs are 
the discount for lack of marketability 
of 30% and expected volatility of 
the underlying share prices of 70%. 
Changing these unobservable inputs 
based on reasonable alternative 
assumptions would not significant 
change the valuations of the 
preferred shares.
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35. FinAnCiAl inStRUmEntS — continued

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments — continued

(i) Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are measured at fair 
values on a recurring basis — continued

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

 Financial assets
 at FVtPl
 HK$’000

at 1 January 2019 324,490
redemption (84,775)
Interest income 2,994
exchange adjustments (1,505)
Fair value gain 31,334

at 31 December 2019 272,538
redemption (184,379)
exchange adjustments (1,111)
Fair value gain 1,014

At 31 december 2020 88,062

Fair value gain on financial assets at FVtpl are included in ‘other gains and losses’.

there were no transfer in or out of level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures 
are required)

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost, 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models which is 
based on discounted cash flows analysis using the relevant prevailing market rates 
as input.

the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recognised at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements 
approximate their fair values.



155S E A HoldingS limitEd  annual report 2020

notes to tHe ConsolIDateD  
FInanCIal stateMents
For the year ended 31 December 2020

36. oPERAting lEASE ARRAngEmEntS

the group as lessor

the lease terms of the remaining leased properties range from 1 to 19 years (2019: 1 to 20 
years).

the majority of the Group’s investment properties were leased out under operating leases.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 226,624 224,549
In the second year 220,368 219,547
In the third year 209,029 212,646
In the fourth year 206,790 199,832
In the fifth year 221,529 210,003
after five years 2,162,243 2,297,001

 3,246,583 3,363,578

37. diSPoSAl oF A SUBSidiARY

During the year, the Group entered into a sale agreement to dispose of its 100% equity interest 
in treasure Base Global limited and its subsidiary (collectively named as “treasure Base Group”) 
that held an investment property in Hong Kong to an independent third party at a consideration 
of HK$196,565,000. the disposal was completed on 26 June 2020, on which the Group lost 
control of treasure Base Group.

the net assets of treasure Base group at the date of disposal were as follows:

 HK$’000

net assets disposed of 196,565

total consideration
satisfied by:
 Cash 196,565

Disposal-related costs amounting to HK$5,738,000 have been recognised as an expense for the 
year within the “other expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.
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37. diSPoSAl oF A SUBSidiARY — continued

Assets derecognised at the date of disposal

 HK$’000

Investment property (note 19) 196,500
rental deposits 65

 196,565

net cash inflows arising on disposal of treasure Base group

 HK$’000

Consideration received 196,565

38. CAPitAl CommitmEntS

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of
 investment properties contracted for but not provided
 in the consolidated financial statements 13,824 55,612
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39. REConCiliAtion oF liABilitiES ARiSing FRom FinAnCing 
ACtiVitiES

the table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both cash and non-cash changes. liabilities arising from financing activities are those 
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

    interest dividends
    payable payable
    (included (included
 lease Bank guaranteed in other in other
 liabilities borrowings notes payables) payables) total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 (note 32) (note 30) (note 31) (note 29)

at 1 January 2020 207,903 11,059,959 2,718,359 67,318 2,803 14,056,342
Financing cash flows (18,367) (2,009,623) (1,554,060) (288,525) (33,057) (3,903,632)
Foreign exchange translation 6,232 59,210 (8,520) 811 — 57,733
amortisation of bank borrowings 
 front-end fee — 13,428 — — — 13,428
amortisation of guaranteed notes 
 issued costs — — 2,443 — — 2,443
Interest expense 8,044 — — 249,764 — 257,808
Dividends declared — — — — 33,072 33,072

at 31 December 2020 203,812 9,122,974 1,158,222 29,368 2,818 10,517,194

    Interest Dividends
    payable payable
    (included (included
 lease Bank Guaranteed in other in other
 liabilities borrowings notes payables) payables) total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
 (note 32) (note 30) (note 31) (note 29)

at 1 January 2019 — 10,979,410 2,726,740 67,865 2,795 13,776,810
adjustment for initial recognition 214,352 — — — — 214,352
Financing cash flows (19,830) (21,453) — (390,938) (33,102) (465,323)
Foreign exchange translation 5,415 87,394 (15,223) (240) — 77,346
amortisation of bank borrowings 
 front-end fee — 14,608 — — — 14,608
amortisation of guaranteed notes 
 issued costs — — 6,842 — — 6,842
Interest expense 7,966 — — 390,631 — 398,597
Dividends declared — — — — 33,110 33,110

at 31 December 2019 207,903 11,059,959 2,718,359 67,318 2,803 14,056,342
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40. PlEdgE oF ASSEtS

at the end of the reporting period, the Group had pledged the following assets to secure 
banking facilities granted to the Group:

(a) F ixed charges on investment propert ies with an aggregate carrying value of 
HK$7,322,248,000 (2019: HK$6,442,492,000) together with a floating charge over all 
the assets of the properties owning subsidiaries and benefits accrued to the relevant 
properties.

(b) Fixed charges on hotel properties with aggregate carrying values of HK$566,174,000 
(2019: HK$586,168,000) together with a floating charge over all the assets of the 
properties owning subsidiaries and benefits accrued to the hotel properties.

(c) pledged bank deposits of HK$29,768,000 (2019: HK$499,037,000).

(d) Debt instruments at FVtoCI of HK$3,879,628,000 (2019: HK$4,891,467,000).

41. SHARE-BASEd PAYmEntS tRAnSACtionS

Share option Scheme of the Company

the Company adopted a share option scheme on 29 May 2015 (the “2015 share option 
scheme”). unless terminated earlier by the Board, the 2015 share option scheme shall be valid 
and effective for a term of 10 years until 28 May 2025. under the 2015 share option scheme, 
the Board may offer to eligible participants options to subscribe for shares of the Company at a 
price at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of the share of the Company; (ii) the average 
of the closing price of the share of the Company on the stock exchange for the five business 
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the 
share of the Company on the stock exchange on the date of grant of the option.
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41. SHARE-BASEd PAYmEntS tRAnSACtionS — continued

Share option Scheme of the Company — continued

Details of the share options granted under the 2015 share option scheme during the years 
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

 number of share options
 

 Exercisable Exercise At   At  At
 period price 1 January   31 december  31 december
date of grant upon vesting per share 2019 Exercised lapsed 2019 lapsed 2020
  HK$

granted to the employees

02.07.2015 01.07.2018 to 30.06.2020 6.302 500,000 (230,000) — 270,000 (270,000) —
22.01.2018 01.01.2019 to 31.12.2020 12.800 325,000 — (50,000) 275,000 (100,000) 175,000
22.01.2018 01.07.2019 to 30.06.2021 12.800 400,000 — (125,000) 275,000 (75,000) 200,000
22.01.2018 01.01.2020 to 31.12.2021 12.800 500,000 — — 500,000 — 500,000
22.01.2018 01.07.2020 to 30.06.2022 12.800 225,000 — — 225,000 — 225,000
22.01.2018 01.01.2021 to 31.12.2022 12.800 1,600,000 — (300,000) 1,300,000 (325,000) 975,000
22.01.2018 01.07.2021 to 30.06.2023 12.800 1,550,000 — (325,000) 1,225,000 (200,000) 1,025,000
        

   5,100,000 (230,000) (800,000) 4,070,000 (970,000) 3,100,000
        

Weighted average exercise price (HK$)  12.163 6.302 12.800 12.369 10,991 12.800

Exercisable at year end  500,000   820,000  1,100,000
        

Weighted average exercise price
 of options exercisable at year end (HK$)  6.302   10.660  12.800
        

under the 2015 share option scheme, no share options had been granted and cancelled during 
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, and no share options had been exercised for 
the year ended 31 December 2020. the vesting period of the share options is from the date of 
grant until the commencement of the exercisable period.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, total consideration received by the Group for exercising 
the share options amounted to HK$1,449,000 and the weighted average share price at the 
dates of exercise was HK$9.65. there is no share options exercised during the year ended 31 
December 2020.

on 2 July 2015, 21,650,000 share options under the 2015 option scheme were granted to 
the employees of the Company and the closing price of the Company’s shares immediately 
preceding the date of grant was HK$6.23. the estimated fair value of the share options granted 
to employees of the Company on that date was HK$21,499,000. the Directors determined 
the fair values of share options with reference to the calculation of the fair value of the share 
options granted made by an independent professional valuer.
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41. SHARE-BASEd PAYmEntS tRAnSACtionS — continued

Share option Scheme of the Company — continued

on 22 January 2018, 5,775,000 share options under the 2015 option scheme were granted 
to the employees of the Company and the closing price of the Company’s shares immediately 
preceding the date of grant was HK$12.64. the estimated fair value of the share options 
granted to employees of the Company on that date was HK$4,339,000. the Directors 
determined the fair values of share options with reference to the calculation of the fair value of 
the share options granted made by an independent professional valuer.

the fair values were calculated using the Binominal option pricing model. the inputs into the 
model were as follows:

 Share option granted on
 

 2 July 2015 22 January 2018

share price as at grant date: HK$6.200 HK$12.80
exercise price: HK$6.302 HK$12.80
expected volatility: 21.58% – 24.24% 25.31% – 34.27%
expected dividend yield: 1.75% 0.62%
risk-free rate: 0.385% – 1.188% 1.53% – 1.82%

expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share 
price over the previous five years. the expected life used in the model has been adjusted, 
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

the variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options were 
based on the Director’s best estimate. the value of an option varied with different variables of 
certain subjective assumptions.

the Group recognised the total expense of HK$464,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 
(2019: HK$565,000) in relation to share options granted by the Company.

Share Award Scheme of the Company

the share award scheme was approved by the shareholders on 27 May 2010 and came into 
effect on 15 June 2010. unless terminated earlier by the Board, the share award scheme shall 
be valid and effective for a term of 15 years until 14 June 2025.
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41. SHARE-BASEd PAYmEntS tRAnSACtionS — continued

Share Award Scheme of the Company — continued

the purpose of the share award scheme is to provide a flexible means to recognise and 
acknowledge the performance and/or contribution of the eligible participants (as defined in the 
share award scheme). under the share award scheme, the Board (or any committee delegated 
by the Board) may at its absolute discretion grant awards, which may comprise (a) new 
shares of the Company; (b) existing shares of the Company in issue and is listed on the stock 
exchange from time to time; (c) cash in lieu of the shares of the Company; or (d) a combination 
of (a), (b) and (c), to any eligible participants as it thinks fit and appropriate and subject to the 
terms and conditions of the share award scheme. no award may be granted under the share 
award scheme if the aggregate number of shares which may be issued and/or transferred 
upon vesting of all outstanding awards granted under the share award scheme and any other 
share award scheme of the Company and which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options granted and yet to be exercised under any share option scheme of the Company exceed 
30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

the Company has appointed trustee to acquire the Company’s shares from the open market 
with funds provided by the Company and to hold the shares before they are vested and 
transferred to the selected participants.

no ordinary shares of the Company were awarded for both years ended 31 December 2019 and 
2020.

42. REtiREmEnt BEnEFit PlAnS

the Group participates in a Mandatory provident Fund scheme (the “MpF scheme”) established 
under the Mandatory provident Fund schemes ordinance in December 2000 and also 
participated in a defined contribution scheme which is registered under the occupational 
retirement schemes ordinance (the “orso scheme”). the assets of the schemes are/were held 
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. employees who 
were members of the orso scheme prior to the establishment of the MpF scheme were offered 
a choice of staying within the orso scheme or switching to the MpF scheme, whereas all new 
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December 2000 are required to join the MpF scheme.

For members of the MpF scheme, the Group contributes 5% to 15% of relevant payroll costs 
to the scheme for members of the MpF scheme, depending on the grading and the length of 
service with the Group.

the orso scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both employees and the Group at 
rates ranging from 5% to 15% of the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service 
with the Group.

the Group terminated the orso scheme in February 2019 and all members of the orso 
scheme transferred their accrued benefits and contributions under the orso scheme to the MpF 
scheme.

the total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$3,901,000 (2019: HK$5,983,000) 
represents contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of 
the plans. no forfeited contributions have been used to reduce the level of contributions in 
either year.
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43. RElAtEd PARtY tRAnSACtionS

other than as disclosed in note 19 and elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, 
the Group has no other transactions and balances with related parties.

the remuneration of the Directors who are the Group’s key management personnel is set out in 
note 15.

the remuneration of the Directors and key executives of the Company is determined/
recommended to the Board for approval by the remuneration committee of the Company having 
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

44. StAtEmEnt oF FinAnCiAl PoSition And RESERVES oF tHE 
ComPAnY

 2020 2019
 HK$’000 HK$’000

non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 5,357,226 6,275,287
pledged bank deposits — 16,512

 5,357,226 6,291,799

Current assets
receivables and deposits 114 800
pledged bank deposits 12,000 16,512
Bank balances 1,136,367 1,075,105

 1,148,481 1,092,417

Current liabilities
payables and accrued charges 3,034 5,122
Bank borrowings — due within one year 1,550,400 1,857,800

 1,553,434 1,862,922

net current liabilities (404,953) (770,505)

net assets 4,952,273 5,521,294

Capital and reserves
share capital 64,224 66,229
reserves 4,888,049 5,156,165

total equity 4,952,273 5,222,394

non-current liability
Bank borrowings — due after one year — 298,900

total equity and non-current liability 4,952,273 5,521,294
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44. StAtEmEnt oF FinAnCiAl PoSition And RESERVES oF tHE 
ComPAnY — continued

movement in the Company’s capital and reserves

 Attributable to the Shareholders
 

    Capital Share
 Share Share Contributed redemption option Retained
 capital premium surplus reserve reserve profits total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

at 1 January 2019 66,206 19,068 190,081 4,451 2,390 4,961,577 5,243,773
profit and total comprehensive 
 income for the year — — — — — 9,717 9,717
recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payments
 — share options — — — — 565 — 565
shares issued upon exercise of 
 share options 23 1,677 — — (251) — 1,449
Dividends paid — — — — — (33,110) (33,110)

at 31 December 2019 66,229 20,745 190,081 4,451 2,704 4,938,184 5,222,394
loss and total comprehensive 
 expense for the year — — — — — (43,341) (43,341)
recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payments
 — share options — — — — 464 — 464
lapse of vested share options — — — — (831) 831 —
shares repurchased and cancelled (2,005) (192,167) — — — — (194,172)
Dividends paid — — — — — (33,072) (33,072)
transfer of excess share premium 
 to retained profits — 171,422 — — — (171,422) —

At 31 december 2020 64,224 — 190,081 4,451 2,337 4,691,180 4,952,273
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45. PRinCiPAl SUBSidiARiES

(a) general information of subsidiaries

  issued and Effective % of
 Place/country paid up issued share capital/
 of incorporation/ share capital/ registered capital
name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

   2020 2019

Direct subsidiaries

new rose Investments limited British Virgin us$1 — 100 Bond issuance
  Islands (“B.V.I.”)/  (note i)
  Hong Kong

rosy Delta Investments limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Bond issuance
  Hong Kong

south-east asia Investment and Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 provision of corporate
 agency Company, limited      and property
      management services

Indirect subsidiaries

Concord Way limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Hotel operation

easy Mega Investment limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

Giant Well enterprises limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Investment holding
  Hong Kong

Grace art Development limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 treasury services

Harbour Blossom limited B.V.I./ us$1 — 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong  (note i)

High team International limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

Honest smart properties limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

King Victory Global limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

leighton road Hotel Management Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Hotel operation
 services limited

luck Marker limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong
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45. PRinCiPAl SUBSidiARiES — continued

(a) general information of subsidiaries — continued

  issued and Effective % of
 Place/country paid up issued share capital/
 of incorporation/ share capital/ registered capital
name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

   2020 2019

Indirect subsidiaries — continued

Maple sky Ventures limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

Max Grand properties limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

nice source Investment limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

oceanic Hero limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

one Valley View limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

pearl Hope limited B.V.I. us$1 100 100 Financial investment

rainbow Mark Investments limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

sea Island Holdings pty. limited australia a$320,000 paid up 100 100 property investment
   share capital

sea profit Holdings limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 property investment
  Hong Kong

sea Vanguard Holdings limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

seven Valley View limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

sound Grace limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

sunni City limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 property investment
   (note i)

ten Valley View limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

treasure Indicator limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Financial investment
  Hong Kong

twenty Valley View limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment

two Valley View limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 property investment
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45. PRinCiPAl SUBSidiARiES — continued

(a) general information of subsidiaries — continued

  issued and Effective % of
 Place/country paid up issued share capital/
 of incorporation/ share capital/ registered capital
name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities

   2020 2019

Indirect subsidiaries — continued

tycoon Honour limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Investment holding of
  Hong Kong     the Moorgate unit
      trust units

Worthy Merit limited B.V.I./ us$1 100 100 Investment holding of
  Hong Kong     the Moorgate unit
      trust units

note:

(i) the equity interests of these subsidiaries were disposed or liquidated during the year ended 
31 December 2020.

the Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries 
of the Company will be of excessive length and therefore the above list contains only the 
particulars of subsidiaries which principally affect the results or assets of the Group.

none of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities except for rosy Delta Investments 
limited (2019: rosy Delta Investments limited and new rose Investments limited) which 
has issued guaranteed notes as set out in note 31 at the end of both years.
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expression shall have the
following meanings:

“aGM(s)” the annual general meeting(s) of the Company;

“ambleside Glory” ambleside Glory limited, a company incorporated in the 
British Virgin Islands with limited liability;

“audit Committee” the audit committee of the Company;

“Board” the board of Directors;

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code;

“Chairman” the chairman of the Board;

“Chief executive” the chief executive of the Company;

“Chief Financial officer” the chief financial officer of the Company;

“Company” or “sea” s e a Holdings limited is an exempted company incorporated 
in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which are 
listed and traded on the Main Board of the stock exchange 
(stock code: 251);

“Deloitte” Deloitte touche tohmatus, Certified public accountants;

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company;

“esG” environmental, social and governance;

“executive Committee” the executive committee of the Company;

“executive Director(s)” the executive Director(s);

“Group or sea Group” the Company and its subsidiaries;

“Government” the government of Hong Kong;

“HK$” the lawful currency of Hong Kong for the time being;

“HKas” Hong Kong accounting standards;

“HKex” Hong Kong exchanges and Clearing limited;

“HKFrs” Hong Kong Financial reporting standards;

“Hong Kong/HKsar” the Hong Kong special administrative region of the prC;
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“Independent non-executive  the independent non-executive Director(s);
 Director(s)” or “IneD”

“listing rules” the rules Governing the listing of securities on the stock 
exchange;

“Model Code” the Model Code for securities transactions by Directors of 
listed Issuers set out in appendix 10 to the listing rules;

“nlI” nan luen International limited, an exempted company 
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability;

“nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Company;

“non-executive Director(s)” the non-executive Director(s);

“nYH” nYH limited, an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda 
with limited liability;

“port lucky” port lucky limited, a company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands with limited liability;

“prC” or “Mainland” or the people’s republic of China;
 “Mainland China”

“remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Company;

“sea Fortune” sea Fortune Ventures limited, a company incorporated in the 
British Virgin Islands with limited liability;

“sFo” the securities and Futures ordinance (Chapter 571 of the 
laws of Hong Kong);

“sGM(s)” the special general meeting(s) of the Company;

“shareholders” the shareholders of the Company;

“share award scheme” the share award scheme of the Company;

“stock exchange” the stock exchange of Hong Kong limited;

“us$” united states dollars, the lawful currency of the united states 
of america;

“%” per cent; and

“2015 share option scheme” the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 29 May 2015.
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